
(next page)→ 

Sussex County Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting 

Thursday, October 19, 2023 – 6 pm 

General District Courtroom – Sussex Judicial Center 

15098 Courthouse Road, Sussex VA 23884 
 

ZOOM LINK 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88516668024 

Meeting ID:  885 1666 8024 
 

==================================================================== 
 

1. Commencement 

A.  Approval of Board Member(s) Participating by Phone under Board Remote 

Participation Policy 

1.01 Call to Order/Determine Quorum 

1.02 The Invocation 

1.03 The Pledge of Allegiance 

1.04  Agenda Amendment(s) 

1.05 Approval of Regular Agenda 
 

2. Approval of Consent Agenda 

2.01 Approval of Minutes:  October 21, 2023 Special and Regular Board of Supervisors 

Meetings 

2.02 Warrants and Vouchers 

2.03 Treasurer’s Report & Financial Update – for information only  

2.04 Departmental Reports – for information only 

2.05 Victim Witness Assistance Grant Award Acceptance 

  

3. Recognitions/Awards/Presentation  

3.01 VATI Broadband Project Update – Sarat Yellepeddi and Justin Harville, Ruralband 

3.02 Fire and EMS Study Report – Walt Bailey, Virginia Fire Services Board 

3.03 Introduction of New VDOT Franklin Residency Staff and Update of Routes 35/40 Safety 

Improvements and Other Projects – Paul Matticks, Resident Administrator 

3.04  Regional EPA Brownfield Grant Application – Thomas Laughlin, TRC 

3.05 Stony Creek Grocery Store IRF Planning Grant Report – Jeff Sadler, Complete 

Community Economy 

3.06 CARES Act Audit Compliance Letter 

3.07 APA Audit Compliance Letter for Sussex Constitutional Officers 

3.08 Introduction of Sussex’s New Victim Witness Director  

  

4. Public Hearing – none 

 

5. Appointments – none  

 

6. Action Items  
6.01 Pocahontas CDBG Project Update and Infrastructure Project Bid Award 

6.02 2023-24 Legislative Agenda 

6.03 Route 602 Industrial Site Recertification 

6.04 Accounts Payable Clerk Appropriation 



 

7. Citizens’ Comments  
 

8. Unfinished Business  
8.01 Codification Update 

 

9. New Business  
9.01 Finance Committee Recommendations – 10/18/23 Meeting with Rescue Squads 

 

10. Board Members Comments 

10.01 Blackwater District 

10.02 Courthouse District 

10.03 Henry District 

10.04 Stony Creek District 

10.05 Wakefield District 

10.06 Waverly District 

 

11. Closed Session - none 

 

12. Recess/Adjournment  
12.01 Recess/Adjournment 

12.02 Next Meeting, Thursday, November 16, 2023 at 6 p.m. 



  

 

1 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

At a Regular Meeting of the  

Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

Held in the General District Courtroom on 

Thursday, September 21, 2023 at 6 pm 

 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 

C. Eric Fly, Sr. 

Alfred G. Futrell 

Debbie P. Jones 

Wayne O. Jones 

Susan B. Seward 

Rufus E. Tyler, Sr. 

Steve White, Tie Breaker (Virtual) 

 

 STAFF PRESENT: 

Richard Douglas, County Administrator 

David Conmy, Deputy County Administrator/ 

 Economic Development Director 

Danielle Powell, County Attorney 

Jordan Baldwin, PT Kennel Technician 

Ellen G. Boone, Commissioner of the Revenue 

Debbie Broughton, Animal Services Director 

Savannah Byrum, Kennel Technician 

Deste J. Cox, Treasurer 

Eric Danuser, IT Manager (Virtual) 

Jeff Gary, Public Works Director 

Ernest Giles, Sheriff 

Tommy Hicks, Consultant 

Michael Kessinger, Sergeant 

Emmy Matthews, Animal Control Officer 

Kelly W. Moore, Finance Director 

Michael Poarch, Planner 

Nick Sheffield, Emergency Services Chief 

Shilton R. Butts, Asst. to the County Administrator/ 

 Clerk to the Board of Supervisors  

 

1.  Commencement (6:17 p.m.) 

 

1.01  Call to Order/Determine Quorum 

 

Chairman W. Jones called the September 21, 2023 regular meeting of the Sussex County Board of 

Supervisors to order. 

 

1.02  The Invocation 

 

Supervisor Fly offered the Invocation. 



  

 

2 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

 

1.03  The Pledge of Allegiance 

 

The Pledge of Allegiance was recited by all. 

 

1.04.  Agenda Amendments 

 

County Administrator Douglas requested to add under Item 2. Consent Agenda, as Item 2.09 

Strickler, LLC Refund. 

 

Supervisor Fly requested to add under Item 3. Recognitions/Awards/Presentation, as Item 3.05 

Southeastern 4-H Conference Center presentation and as Item 3.06 Veteran’s for Veterans. 

 

1.05.  Approval of Regular Agenda 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FLY, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby approves the September 21, 

2023 regular agenda to include adding under Item 2, Consent Agenda, as Item 2.09 Strickler, LLC 

Refund; under Item 3. Recognitions/Awards/Presentation, as Item 3.05 Southeastern 4-H 

Conference Center Report from Director; and as Item 3.06 Veteran’s for Veterans Presentation 

(Interest in Hunting County Property).  All Board members present voted aye. 

 

2. Approval of Consent Agenda 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FLY, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby approves the Consent agenda 

inclusive of the following: (a) August 17, 2023 Meeting minutes; (b) the Approval of Warrants 

and Vouchers; (c) the Treasurer’s Report and Financial Update; (d) Departmental Reports; (e) 

CSA Revolving Loan Cap Increase; (f) Compensatory Leave Overage Payout Approval/Budget 

Amendment; (g) Gro52 Property Clawback – Contingency Reimbursement; (h) School Rollover 

Resolution; and (i) Strickler, LLC Refund.  All Board members present voted aye. 

 

3.  Recognitions/Awards/Presentation 

 

3.01 Sussex County Animal Services FY23 Update and Introduction of Staff  

 

Debbie Broughton, Animal Services Director was in attendance to provide an update FY23 Animal 

Services update and introduce staff.  

 

Ms. Broughton introduced new staff and gave a brief background on the staff to include Kennel 

Technician Savannah Byrum, ACO Emmy Matthews.  ACO Christa Palmer was not in attendance; 

however, she’s the second Animal Control Officer.  She introduced Part-time Kennel Technician 

Jordan Baldwin.  Katie Daniel, Sue Vaughn and Erica Vaughan are part time Kennel Technicians; 

however, they were not in attendance at the meeting.   

 



  

 

3 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

Ms. Broughton brought some of the animals from the shelter to the meeting, that included Canine 

Wobble, as well.   

 

Ms. Broughton reviewed the 2023 statistics to include: 

 

 Intake to date - 675 

 Returned to owner – 71 

 Adopted – 134 

 Transferred – 180 

 In custody to the date – 84 

 Highest total daily count – 111. 

 

Other important facts included:  (1) 650 calls for service through dispatch, not including telephone 

calls; (2) 82% live release rate; (3) two new cat community play room; (4) new floors through out 

kennels; thanks to Energix; and (5) a new outdoor kennels, thanks to Lamburtus Grant to help pay 

for equipment. 

 

Ms. Broughton noted the partners of the animal shelter to include:  (1) Dr. Cupp, DVM, (2) 

Richmond Animal League (RAL), (3) Erica Gunn Photography, (4) Animal Aid, (5) Symbiotic 

Rescue, (6) Richmond SPCA, (7) Coastal Paws Rescue, (8) Surry Animal Services, and (9) Dr.Kim 

Eaton, DVM. 

 

 

Mr. Broughton provided the Board a handout of the update that included the staff information. 

 

3.02 Sussex County Building Services FY23 Update  

 

Building Official Matt Westheimer was in attendance to present a FY23 review of the Building 

Services program and progress made since the formation of the shared program with Surry County.  

It was noted that Mr. Westheimer, along with the Surry and Sussex County Administrators, will 

present a session, “Partnering for Virginia’s First Shared Building Services Program,” on 

September 30th at the ICMA Annual Conference in Austin. 

 

Mr. Westheimer stated that he wanted to take this opportunity to give a quick update on the shared 

building services program now they we had completed one full fiscal year of the program.  

 

He thanked them for the opportunity to serve you.  He gave a special thanks to Mr. Douglas and 

Mrs. Rollins for selecting me for the position.  He stated that in the past nearly 2 years some 

tremendous strides had been made in revamping the building inspections program. An 

overwhelming positive response from citizens, contractors, and other customers of the department 

has been received. Mr. Westheimer stated that he would be remiss if he did not to mention that the 

program has received so much positive feedback that they were selected to present an overview of 

the program at this year's ICMA annual conference in Austin Texas. He hoped that they are as 

pleased and as proud of the outcome of the program as he was!   Most importantly, all staff is fully 

certified through the State, giving the program full accreditation through the Department of 

Housing and Community Development, and at the national level through the International Code 



  

 

4 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

Council. Our permit technician at Sussex, Ms. Monica Whitney is representing the County as an 

instructor at the Department of Housing and Community Development.  She has also been asked 

to serve as a co-chair for the permit technicians committee for 'the Virginia Building Code Officials 

Association. Mr. Westheimer stated that the County really has some great staff members that are 

willing to go the extra mile for each other and the customers. 

 

Mr. Westheimer reviewed the numbers for the last fiscal year.  He stated program wide, they 

conducted just over 1,200 inspections.  Of the 1,200 inspections, 612 were conducted in Sussex 

County.  All inspections were completed within 24 hours of being called in to the new inspection's 

hotline.  All plans were reviewed and approved or given comments within 10 business days from 

being received by the Inspections Department. 

 

They completed a revamp of the permit fee schedule.  Because of this, the total fees collected for 

FY23 were $425,828.  The departmental budget was $250,077, leaving a net positive revenue of 

almost $176,000.  Surry County saw a similar increase in revenue with a total of fees collected for 

FY23 being $441,229 and net revenue thereof $152,000.  Mr. Westheimer noted that he doesn't 

see this happening every year, however, it was very nice to see since they have put so much time 

into the development of the program. 

 

One of the last task that still has to be accomplished is updating the permitting software.  Updating 

the software will allow for much better customer service to the customers.  It will give real time 

inspection updates, allow for electronic plan review, easier online permit application submittals 

and a host of other features that is much more user friendly.  He stated that he had cone several 

demos with numerous vendors; however, he is still looking for the best fit for both counties. 

 

He thanked everyone again for the opportunity to serve and present the update. 

 

3.03 Introduction of New VDOT Franklin Residency Staff and Update of Routes 35/40 Safety 

Improvements and Other Projects 

 

County Administrator Douglas stated that Paul Matticks, Resident Administrator of the VDOT 

Franklin Residency, was expected to be in attendance to introduce himself and George Bowman, 

new Assistant Residency Administrator, who replaced Jerry Kee.  In addition, Mr. Matticks will 

present an update on the Route 35/40 intersection and recommended safety improvements to be 

implemented in the near future.    

 

The VDOT representative was not in attendance.  This item was moved to the October agenda. 

 

3.04 Revised Sussex County Debt Capacity and Affordability Analysis 

 

County Administrator Douglas stated that as requested by the Board of Supervisors at the August 

regular meeting, Roland Kooch with Davenport & Company will present a revised debt capacity 

and affordability analysis, originally presented in May 2022.  This analysis has been revised to 

reflect the most current figures through FY23, and is intended to help guide the Board of 

Supervisors in deciding the affordability of the proposed courthouse renovation/administrative 



  

 

5 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

facility project, as presented at the August regular meeting.  Mr. Kooch will also review some 

possible financing option for this project.   

 

Roland Kooch with Davenport was in attendance.  Mr. Kooch presented the Debt Capacity and 

Affordability Analysis to the Board.  As Financial Advisor to the Sussex County, Davenport and 

Company, LLC was requested to (1) provide an overview of the County’s Existing Debt Profile 

which incorporates both tax supported debt and lease obligations; (2) analyze the County’s 

potential Debt Capacity and Debt Affordability; and (3) provide an update to the County’s multi-

year funding strategy for its identified Capital Improvement Needs.   

 

Davenport and Company, LLC was also requested, based on the County’s Existing Debt Profile, 

provide a preliminary estimate of the revenues needed to fund the identified future capital needs 

and/or other potential obligations. 

 

A handout of the Debt Capacity and Affordability Analysis was provided to the Board.  Mr. Kooch 

reviewed the goals and objectives as requested. 

 

No action is requested at this meeting, but staff is soliciting for design and construction 

administration services for consideration at the October regular meeting. 

 

3.05 Southeast 4-H Conference Center 

 

Ms. Kathy Guindon, Southeast 4-H Conference Center Director, was in attendance to provide a 

one-year update.   

 

Ms. Guindon stated that in the spring the Board inquired about the number of Sussex County 

residents visiting the 4-H Center.  At the time the numbers were low.  She stated that the largest 

week of summer camp consisted of 199 people.  Of that 199, 112 were Sussex residents in 

comparison to the 30-35 that attended last year.  She noted that she worked with some members 

of Sussex County Coalition who reached out to some local churches, schools, etc. to get children 

to the camp.   

 

The youth could choose three out of 14 classes during that week of summer camp.  They 

participated in yoga, archery, shooting sports, canoeing, fishing, swimming class, leathercraft, 

nature and forestry, and the teaching of life skills. 

 

Ms. Guindon stated that the 4-H Center had some grant support, as well as support from Sussex 

County.  She stated that model that was used could be replicated in the 16 counties and cities that 

visit. 

 

She stated that you do n0t have to be in 4-H to come the camp.  The Camp is for everyone.  A 

2023 school field trip was started.  Sussex school had a school field trip.  There was a 

Mentor/Mentee Program where upper classman in which they did an overnight field trip.  They 

participated/saw in campfire, S'mores, turtles, walk in the woods, field guides and ferns. 

 

She reviewed some improvements made to include the roof, decking, new six feet pool fence and 



  

 

6 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

ropes, permanent Program Director (Joey Patterson), permanent Executive Director (Ms. 

Guindon), staff increasing, Crater Regional Workforce, monthly programming, work days and 

upgrade to walking trails. 

 

Crater Regional Workforce paid for six seasonal staff.  The Backyard Marathon Ultramarathon 

was hosted in May.   

 

New educational opportunities were provided.  A grant was received.  A 3-D Archery Range was 

installed.  Fishing programs and clinics for all ages are in place, as well as Bees program, public 

gardens and a 5-Stand/Wobble Range-ASC. 

 

There was inquiry of offering swimming lessons.  It was advised that there was no swimming 

instructor on site.  The pool will be open Memorial Day through Labor Day. 

 

3.06 Veteran’s for Veterans 

 

Mr. Harrup, a Veterans for Veterans representative, a non-profit organization, was in attendance.  

He stated that he was a former fighter pilot and retired Major in the United States Air Force.  He 

stated that he came up with an idea with a former chairman of Wings of Hope.  The former 

chairman resigned from Wings of Hope to help him form and establish Veterans for Veterans.  The 

idea of coming home and being able to use their blessings in life--great airline careers--and take 

their flying skills and use it to move disabled veterans and service dogs around the United States 

with donated corporate aircrafts.  He stated that he owned a business in Dinwiddie County called 

Central Virginia Aviation Used Aircrafts that he holds to resale to do that as well and partner with 

Angel Flight.  He stated that this had grown into the Disable Veterans Hunt.  He stated that he was 

looking for land.  Last year, he was fortunate enough to buy 200 acres in Sussex on Cabin Point 

Road next to the landfill.   

 

He mentioned the County property off Highway 460, near Waverly, behind to old tank service 

station.  He stated that his family was from Waverly and Dendron.  His grandfather, Dennis Harrup, 

Sr., was the founder of Waverly Hunting Club.  He discussed some of the clubs he hunted.  He's 

familiar with the County and has a love for the County.   

 

He stated that they had the opportunity to provide the County with some revenue or the 

wherewithal to purchase the land.  He stated they looked forward to partner with other/surrounding 

hunting clubs. 

 

He stated he didn't need the land for himself.  He see a way to make things better and help the 

veterans and the County.  He wanted the opportunity to discuss. 

 

There was inquiry of whether he wanted to hunt County land.  He stated that he was looking for a 

place provide hunting for veterans.  He was advised that the County no longer allow hunting on 

the Mega Site property.  The County is in the process of developing the property for economic 

development.  There would be a liability and conflict due to developing it.   

 

David Conmy, Deputy County Administrator and Economic Development Director, stated as an 



  

 

7 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

additional point of information that not only does the County need to protect the conflicts and 

liability, but many of the prospects visiting the Mega Site prefer almost like an aura of secrecy 

because it could jeopardize the deal.  He stated that the County has spent a considerable amount 

of money to acquire the Mega Site to grow its tax base.  He stated that staff recommendation would 

be no to allowing hunting on the land. 

 

4.  Public Hearings 
 

There was no Public Hearing. 

 

5.  Appointments  
 

There were no appointments. 

 

6.  Action Items 

 

There were no Action items. 

 

7.  Citizens’ Comments 

 

 Kenneth Young (Courthouse District) - Got wind of something (4-H Center) on Facebook; 

made a post on Facebook calling out Board members; given other information and made 

post apologizing; wanted to apologized to Board members in person; thanked Board 

members wanting the 4-H to upholding values.  

 

8.  Unfinished Business  
 

Item 8.01  Design Services Task Order for DMV Select ADA Compliant Restroom 

 

County Administrator Douglas stated that Russell Pearlman with the Wooten Company presented 

a proposed task order under their engineering term contract for design and construction services 

for the upgrade of restrooms at the Treasurer’s Office, in order to meet ADA compliance necessary 

for DMV-Select operational requirements, but the board tabled this item for further discussion.  

The task order and budget amendment in the amount of $44,200 are attached for your review and 

consideration.   

 

While optimal for the design and management of this project by our contracted architect to ensure 

that the improvements are compatible with the proposed courthouse restoration/administrative 

building project, staff understands the concerns related to professional services costs for a 

relatively minor project. Therefore, based on these concerns and given that minimal structural 

improvements would be made to the building as reflected in the conceptual plan, staff is 

recommending either:  

 

1)  that the design-build method is utilized for this project to allow a contractor to work with its 

own design professional to ensure compatibility of the ADA improvements with the overall 



  

 

8 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

conceptual design of the larger project (this method should also expedite the implementation 

timeline); or  

2) that architectural services be solicited for a more basic plan that accounts for ADA compliance 

while maintaining general conformance with the overall building plans.  Under either scenario, 

staff would handle bidding and construction administration of the restroom project, and Mr. 

Pearlman has agreed to provide some minimal interaction with the selected architect to ensure 

overall compatibility.   

 

Staff recommends the Board approves either option 1 or 2 as noted above, and approves to move 

forward with the design and bidding process and budget amendment. 

 

There were inquiries as to the deadline and why an architect was needed.  County Administrator 

Douglas stated that it cost would be $3,000 to $5,000 for the design.  He stated that the Budget 

Amendment for $44,000 was placed in the Board packet because it was what was presented at 

the August meeting. 

Wooten Task and Budget Amendment #23-72 were included in the Board packet 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FUTRELL, seconded by SUPERVISOR D. JONES and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby gives the County Administrator 

the authority to go through procurement and obtain an architect, up to $5,000, to make the design 

for the bathroom ADA compliance.  All Board members present voted aye. 

 

Supervisor D. Jones departed at 8:10 p.m. 

 

8.02 Proposed ARPA Recommended Project List and Resolution 

 

County Administrator Douglas stated that attached for the Board's consideration was a list of 

proposed ARPA expenditures utilizing the $242,780.50 of remaining unallocated ARPA funds, 

which must be allocated by December 2023, and related budget amendment.  For reference, this 

list includes all previously approved ARPA expenditures over the past couple years.  It has been 

amended since being presented at the August regular meeting to reflect the expenditure of $12,000 

for Waverly Meadows road improvements (as approved by the board in the interest of public safety 

at the August regular meeting).  The requested expenditures primarily reflect capital needs 

excluded from the current operating budget, as well as an update to the county’s personnel policies 

and a pay/position classification plan that will improve the county’s HR efforts moving forward.  

 

Staff recommended approval of the ARPA expenditures as presented and the related budget 

amendment of $242,780.50. 

 

Kelly Moore, Finance Director, noted that the Board had until December 2024 to allocate funds. 

 

The ARPA comprehensive list and Budget Amendment #23-81 were included in the Board packet. 

 

After discussion, it was the consensus of the Board to not move forward with the approval of the 

ARPA list and budget amendment. 

 



  

 

9 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

Supervisor Fly asked the Board to allocate $40,000 of ARPA funds for the purchase of a used 

ambulance.  There was discussion of storage and back up. 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FLY, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby allocate $40,000 of ARPA funds 

for the purchase of a backup ambulance.   

Voting aye:  Supervisors Fly, W. Jones, Seward 

Voting nay:  Supervisor Futrell 

Abstaining:  Supervisor Tyler 

Absent during Vote:  Supervisor D. Jones 

 

County Administrator Douglas stated that Nick Sheffield, Chief of Fire and Rescue, brought to his 

attend that the Board had indicated its interest in purchasing automated external defibrillators 

(AEDs) in the deputy vehicles and fire stations.  An official appropriation was never done. 

 

Supervisor Fly made the motion, seconded by Supervisor Seward to allocate $50,000 for the 

deputy vehicles. 

 

There was discussion of who would receive the AEDs.  It was clarified the AEDs would be 

provided for the deputy vehicles.  Supervisor Fly noted that the 4-H Conference Center had a 

project that the County needed to complete regarding providing another AED as only one of the 

two had been provided.  He amended his motion to change the amount to $55,000 and added 

providing an AED to the 4-H Center. 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FLY, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby approve $55,000 for the 

automated external defibrillators (AEDs) in the Deputy Sheriff vehicles and one AED to the 

Airfield 4-H Conference Center.  All Board members presented voted. 

 

8.03 Abbreviated FY24 Capital Improvement Plan 

 

County Administrator Douglas stated that Section 15.2-2316.7 of the Code of Virginia establishes 

the process by which localities may enter into siting agreements with applicants for solar projects 

or energy storage projects. The siting agreement may include terms and conditions such as 

financial compensation to the host locality to address needs set out in the capital improvement plan 

adopted by the host locality. 

 

Several years have passed since Sussex County adopted a Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), though 

County Administration intends to restart the formal CIP process soon. Meanwhile, the County has 

been approached by several applicants proposing solar projects and/or energy storage projects 

within the County. In the event that one or more solar projects and/or energy storage projects are 

approved by the County Board of Supervisors, then it will be imperative for the County to have a 

CIP in place to ensure that financial compensation provided in the siting agreement can be used to 

address capital improvement needs of the County. 

 



  

 

10 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

The attached document identifies the most immediate capital needs of the County and which have 

been discussed by the County on several occasions. The document will serve as an abbreviated 

CIP in the event the County enters into a siting agreement with an applicant for a solar project 

and/or energy storage project until a more formal CIP can be developed over a longer period of 

time.  

 

Staff recommended the Board adopt the Abbreviated FY2024 Capital Improvement Plan. 

 

A copy of the Sussex County Capital Improvement Plan FY2024 – FY2028 was included in the 

Board packet. 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR SEWARD, seconded by SUPERVISOR FLY and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby adopts the Abbreviated FY2024 

Capital Improvement Plan.  All Board members presented voted aye.   

 

9.  New Business 

 

Item 9.01  Proposed Lobbying Services for PILOT Issue 

 

County Administrator Douglas that Staff has discussed possible lobbying services with the County 

Attorney and Supervisors Seward and Fly as a possible solution for addressing the reinstatement 

of payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) from DOC for the two state prisons in Sussex County.  Since 

2009 the PILOT has not been made to Sussex County or other dozen rural counties containing 

state prisons, resulting in a minimal annual loss of $500k, but estimated by Davenport to be much 

higher.  Numerous attempts to reinstate the PILOT by a legislative budget amendment have been 

attempted unsuccessfully over the ten years, so staff is recommending that the board consider the 

solicitation of an experienced lobbying firm that can work to ensure the PILOT is reinstated 

through the Governor’s proposed budget, or if necessary a legislative budget amendment.   

 

Staff recommends that lobbying firms be solicited per the attached solicitation, and given time 

considerations related to the upcoming state budget process, approve staff to engage the services 

of a lobbying firm. 

 

There was lengthy discussion of the pros and cons of the program to include 

 

David Conmy provided a spreadsheet listing session years from 2009 through 2023 laying out the 

fiscal year, category, if it included pilot exemptions language; budget amendment patron, 

estimated amount and general notes and links. 

 

It was noted that the Legislative Committee was formed, but never met. 

 

There was discussion that if the County (Supervisors Seward and Fly, and DC/EDD Conmy) goes 

to the Governor's next week (the week of September 25th) and get in the Governor's budget, that 

the County would discuss with Greensville, Brunswick, other localities to contribute. 

 



  

 

11 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

A Draft Solicitation for Lobbying Services for PILOT Issue and Small Purchasing Policy were 

included in the Board packet. 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FLY, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby approves the draft proposal for 

solicitation, given time considerations related to the upcoming state budget process, approve staff 

to engage the services of a lobbying firm. 

Voting aye:  Supervisors Fly, Seward 

Voting nay:  Supervisors Futrell, W. Jones, Tyler 

Absent during vote:  Supervisor D. Jones 

 

Motion failed.  Vice Chair Seward offered a substitute motion. 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR SEWARD, seconded by SUPERVISOR TYLER and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby approve the Board would 

engage a lobbyist if the County is successful at getting included in the Governor's budget.  All 

Board members present voted aye. 

 

10.  Board Member Comments 
 

10.01  Blackwater District – none 

 

10.02 Courthouse District – none 

 

10.03 Henry District – none 

 

10.04 Stony Creek District – absent during comments.  

 

10.05 Wakefield District – Shout out appreciation to Nick Sheffield and EMS for assisting wife 

with transporting 

 

10.06  Waverly District – none 

 

Supervisor Tyler departed at 9:42 p.m. 

 

11. Closed Session 

 

11.01 Convene to Closed Session 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FLY, seconded by SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors entered Closed Session for (1)  

discussion or disposition of the conveyance of publicly held real property, where discussion in an 

open meeting would adversely affect the bargaining position or negotiating strategy of the public 

body, applicable Virginia Code Section 2.2-3711(A)3, property located at Mega Site; (2) 

discussion of a prospective business or industry or the expansion of  an existing business or 

industry where no previous announcement has been made of the business’ or industry’s interest in 



  

 

12 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

locating or expanding its facilities in the community, applicable Virginia Code Section 2.2-

3711(A)5 prospective property; and (3) consultation of legal counsel for actual or probable future 

litigation, applicable Virginia Code Section 2.2-3711(A)7 

Voting aye:  Supervisors Fly, Futrell, W. Jones, Seward 

Voting nay:  none 

Absent during vote:  Supervisors D. Jones, Tyler 

 

11.02/3  Reconvene to Open Session/Certification 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FLY, seconded SUPERVISOR SEWARD and carried:  

RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors Personnel Committee hereby 

reconvened to Open Session. 

 

WHEREAS, the Sussex County Board of Supervisors hereby approves adoption of resolution for 

certification, to-wit: 

 

WHEREAS, that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors convened a Closed Meeting on this date 

pursuant to an affirmative recorded vote in accordance with the provisions of the Virginia Freedom 

of Information Act; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 2.2-3712 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, requires a certification by the 

Board that such Closed Meeting was conducted inconformity with Virginia law. 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors hereby certifies that, to 

the best of each member’s knowledge (i) only public business matters lawfully exempted from 

Open Meeting requirements by Virginia law were discussed in the Closed Meeting to which this 

certification resolution applies, and (ii) only such public business matters as were identified in the 

motion convening the Closed Meeting were heard discussed or considered. 

Voting aye:  Supervisors Fly, Futrell, W. Jones, Seward 

Voting nay:  none 

Absent during vote:  Supervisors D. Jones, Tyler 

 

11.04 Action Resulting from Closed Session, if any 

 

There was no action on the Closed Session items. 

 

12.  Adjournment 

 

12.01 Adjournment 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR FUTRELL, seconded by SUPERVISOR D. JONES and carried:  

RESOLVED that the September 21, 2023 regular meeting of the Sussex County Board of 

Supervisors hereby adjourned at 9:24 p.m.  All Board members present voted aye. 

 

12.02 Next Meeting 

 



  

 

13 | Page – Minutes of September 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of Board of Supervisors 

 

 

The next regular Board of Supervisors meeting is scheduled to be held, Thursday, October 19, 

2023 at 6 p.m. 



 

Page 1 - Minutes of the September 21 2023 Finance Committee Meeting of the Board of Supervisors 

 

At a Finance Committee Meeting of the Board of Supervisors  

Held in the General District Courtroom  

on Thursday, September 21, 2023 – 4:00 pm 

 

 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 

C. Eric Fly, Sr. 

Rufus E. Tyler, Sr  

  

BOARD MEMBER ABSENT 

Wayne O. Jones 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

Richard Douglas, County Administrator 

Deste J. Cox, Treasurer 

Ernest Giles, Sheriff 

Nick Sheffield, Emergency Services Chief 

Shilton R. Butts, Assistant to the County Administrator/ 

 Clerk of the Board 

 

Item 1.  Call to order/Determine Quorum ( 

 

The September 21, 2023 Finance Committee meeting of the Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

was called to order by Chairman Fly. 

 

Item 2.  Invocation 

 

There was no invocation. 

 

Item 3.  The Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

There was no Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Item 4.  Agenda Amendment  
 

There were no agenda amendments. 

 

Item 5.  Approval of Agenda 
 

By general consensus, the agenda was approved. 

 

Item 6.  EMS Cost  

 

The Finance Committee reviewed/discussed the answered questions submitted by EMS. 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 



 

Page 2 - Minutes of the September 21 2023 Finance Committee Meeting of the Board of Supervisors 

 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏 ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

 

There was no ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> There was no ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

 

There was no ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

 

There was no ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

 

There was no ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

 

There was no ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

 

There was no ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> ˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

˂Æ󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏##>>> 

 

 

 

 

Item 8  Adjour󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏nment 

 

ON MOTION OF SUPERVISOR TYLER, 󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏 seconded by SUPERVISOR FLY and 

carried:  RESOLVED that the Sussex County Board of Supervisors󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏󠇏 hereby adjourned 

the September 21, 2023 Finance Committee Meeting at 5:34 p.m.  All members present voted aye. 





































•
 

C
 D

 
w

 
I-V>

 
::,

 
c::

 
'J

 
w

 
D

 
c::

 
<(

 
::,

 

V>
 

<(
 

<(
 

w
 

c::
 

V>
 

I-
_J

 
<(

 
x

 
I-D

 
0

 
I-

u
 

'J
 

w
 

I-

'-"
 

V>
 

w
 

0
 

D
 

>-_J
 

""
 

w
 

w
 

3
 

w
 

::c:
 

I-V>
 

_J
 

<(
 

::,
 

Cl
 

w
 

2,
 

°'
 

r---r---CD
 

�
r---;:::

 

\/)
 w

 
w

 
w

 
_J

 
-

1-
I-

I-
<(

 
•

;§
 

<(
 

;§
 

I-
D

 

cr-
I-�

 











C
 

LU
 

i::
 

VJ
 

...J
 

§



























2.03

Consent Agenda - Page 1

sricks
Highlight



Consent Agenda - Page 2



Consent Agenda - Page 3



Consent Agenda - Page 4



Consent Agenda - Page 5



BUILDING 

INSPECTIONS 

DEPARTMENT 

  October 19, 2023 

Monthly Reports 

2.04 

Consent Agenda - Page 6



Building department  County of Sussex, Virginia  

MATT WESTHEIMER , mcp, cbo    P. O. Box 1397 Sussex, Virginia 23884 

building official    Fax (434) 246-8259 

(434) 246-4390

Sussexcountyva.gov 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE:  October 2, 2023 

TO: Richard Douglas, County Administrator 

FROM: Matt Westheimer, Building Official    

SUBJECT: September 2023 - Monthly Report 

Please accept this as the September 2023 update for the Building Department. 

BUILDING ACTIVITY  

 September 2023

Building 

Permits 

Electrical 

Permits 

Plumbing & 

Sprinkler 

Permits 

Mechanical 

Permits 

Field 

Inspections 

Improvement 

Value 

Revenue 

Generated 

16 15 2 6 73 $1,921,774.22 $16,306.73 

 September 2022

Building 

Permits 

Electrical 

Permits 

Plumbing & 

Sprinkler 

Permits 

Mechanical 

Permits 

Field 

Inspections 

Improvement 

Value 

Revenue 

Generated 

14 11 2 3 57 $1,475,161.00 $7,040.69 

 January 2023 – December 2023 (Yearly totals)

Building 

Permits 

Electrical 

Permits 

Plumbing & 

Sprinkler 

Permits 

Mechanical 

Permits 

Field 

Inspections 

Improvement 

Value 

Revenue 

Generated 

104 118 36 60 618 $34,612,134.79 $356,353.50 

Inspections completed within 24 hours For September 100% 

Plans reviewed within 10 business days For September 100% 

Consent Agenda - Page 7



SUSSEX COUNTY

INSPECTIONS PERFORMED BY DISTRICT

SEPTEMBER 2023

DISTRICT INSPECTIONS

BLACKWATER 0

COURTHOUSE 18

WAVERLY 15

STONY CREEK 25

WAKEFIELD 4

HENRY 8

BLACKWATER
0%

COURTHOUSE
26%

WAVERLY
21%

STONY CREEK
36%

WAKEFIELD
6%

HENRY
11%

INSPECTIONS BY DISTRICT

Consent Agenda - Page 8



Sheriff’s Department

October 19, 2023 

Monthly Reports 

Consent Agenda - Page 9



P. O. 

Sheriff E.L. Giles, Sr. 

Sussex County Sheriff’s Office 

“One Family, One Mission, One Goal” 

P.O. B 

P. O.  Box 1326 Sussex, Virginia 23884 
Telephone: 434-246-5000 

Fax: 434-246-5714 
Email: Egiles@susova.us 

Sussex County Sheriff’s Office Monthly Report 

Month of September 2023 

PATROL 

COURTS 

Court: Judges: 

Circuit Court 3 

General District 5 

JDR Court 3 

CALLS FOR SERVICE 

Type: Total: 

Sheriff 1,183 

Fire 75 

Rescue 231 

Animal Control 88 

Town of Wakefield 51 

Traffic 691 

TOTAL 2,319 

Court: 
Days of 
Court: 

Circuit Court 4 

General District 10 

JDR Court 5 

Consent Agenda - Page 10



CIVIL 

Fines and Forfeitures $49,109.27 

Sheriff’s Fees $206.00 

Courthouse Security $7,532.68 

JAIL 

During the month of September 2023, our average daily population was 37.8 inmates. The jail 

booked in 31 individuals during September 2023.  

The classification of these inmates as reported by the Commonwealth of Virginia’s LIDS 

computer system is as follows: 

Pre- Trial   43 inmates, having been confined a total of 622 days 

Sentenced Misdemeanant  6 inmates, having been confined a total of 70 days 

Sentenced Felons   9 inmates, having been confined a total of 177 days. 

Others   5 inmates, convicted but not sentenced, etc. 

Weekenders  6 inmates serving a misdemeanor sentence. 

Transports of inmates for various reasons are listed below: 

Court / Jail 7 

Medical 0 

Juvenile 0 

Road Crew 0 

TDO (Mental) 0 

TOTAL 7 

Type: Total: 

Subpoenas Served 315 

Jury Summoned 0 

Criminal Warrants 51 

DMV Notices 5 

Levies 1 

TDO 2 

ECO 0 

Other Civil 116 

Consent Agenda - Page 11



BOARD FORM 

Agenda Item: Consent Agenda Item #2.05 

Subject: Department of Criminal Justice Services Grant #24-O1439VW20 - $98,091 & Budget 
Amendment 

Board Meeting Date:   September 19 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary: Staff is in receipt of the FY23-24 Statement of Grant Award (SOGA) and Budget 
Narrative for the Department of Criminal Justice Services Grant #24-O1439VW20 for the Sussex 
County Victim Witness Grant Program (Year 3). 

Federal funds were approved in the amount of $66,449 and $31,642 in State Special Funds for a 
total award of $98,091.00 for the Victim Witness Program. 

The Finance Department is requesting that the Board of Supervisors accepts and appropriates 
Victim Grant #24-O1439VW20 for FY23-24 from the Virginia Department of Criminal Justice in 
the amount of $98,091.00.  There is no local match.   

A resolution for a budget amendment is also included for your approval as well. 

Recommendation:  That the Board accepts Victim Witness Grant #24-O1439VW20 from the 
Virginia Department of Criminal Justice Services (DCJS) in the amount of f $66,449 in Federal 
Funds and $31,642 in State Special Funds for a total award of $98,091.00 and appropriates the 
same, as well as approve Resolution #22-106 

Attachments: Copies of FY23-24 Statement of Grant Award & Budget Narrative for Sussex 
County Victim Witness Program for Grant #24-O1439VW20 

============================================================================== 
ACTION:  That the Board accepts Victim Witness Grant #24-O1439VW20 from the Virginia 
Department of Criminal Justice Services (DCJS) in the amount of f $66,449 in Federal Funds and 
$31,642 in State Special Funds for a total award of $98,091.00 and appropriates the same; and 

FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board approves Resolution #22-106. 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________     

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 
Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 
Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 
D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White (Tie Breaker)  ___ ___ 

Consent Agenda - Page 12



Consent Agenda - Page 13



Consent Agenda - Page 14



Consent Agenda - Page 15



Consent Agenda - Page 16



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item: Recognitions #3.01 

Subject:  VATI Broadband Project Update – Sarat Yellepeddi and Justin Harville, Ruralband 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:   Sarat Yellepeddi and Justin Harville with Ruralband will provide a brief update on the 
implementation status of the county-wide broadband project being funded in part by DHCD grant 
funds.  Ruralband will not meet the project completion date of December 2023 as initially projected, 
so the county will need to request an extension from DHCD.   

Recommendation:   No action requested. 

Attachment:   None  

============================================================================== 

ACTION:    

MOTION BY: SECONDED BY: 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___  
(Tie Breaker) 

Recognition - Page 1



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item: Recognitions #3.02 

Subject:  Fire and EMS Study Report – Walt Bailey, VFS Board 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:   Walt Bailey with the Virginia Fire Services Board will be present to provide a summary 
of findings and recommendations from its recently completed fire and EMS study of Sussex County.  
During this study, a team met with representatives from each volunteer fire department and rescue 
squad, county staff, and others, as well as reviewed applicable ordinances, plans, and documents. 
The Board may consider adopting the study findings at a later date, but no action is requested at 
this time. 

Recommendation:   No action requested. 

Attachment:   None  

============================================================================== 

ACTION:    

MOTION BY: SECONDED BY: 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___  
(Tie Breaker) 

Recognition - Page 2



Sussex County
FIRE & EMS STUDY

In consultation with the Virginia Department of Fire Programs and the 
Virginia Department of Health’s Off ice of Emergency Medical Services. 

Virginia Fire Services Board | September 2023   

Recognition - Page 3



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
1 of 28 

Table of Contents 

STUDY TEAM .............................................................................................................................. 2 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT .............................................................................................................. 2 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .......................................................................................................... 3 

METHODOLOGY ....................................................................................................................... 5 

PHASE I: INITIATE PROJECT ...............................................................................................................5 

PHASE II: OBTAIN STAKEHOLDER INPUT ..........................................................................................5 

PHASE III: PREPARE ANALYSES AND DEVELOP CORE STRATEGIES...................................................6 

PHASE IV: PREPARE FINAL REPORT ..................................................................................................6 

COUNTY INFORMATION ........................................................................................................ 7 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................................................... 8 

I. DEPT. OF EMERGENCY SERVICES ....................................................................................8 

II. WAVERLY RESCUE SQUAD .............................................................................................10 

III. FULL-TIME/PART-TIME STAFF........................................................................................11 

IV. ADOPT ONE EMS LICENSE ...............................................................................................12 

V. FIRE AND EMS RISK ASSESSMENT ...................................................................................12 

VI. DEVELOPMENT OF SOPS/SOGS.....................................................................................14 

VII. BUDGET RECOMMENDATIONS ........................................................................................15 

VIII. DEVELOPMENT OF COUNTY-WIDE TRAINING STANDARDS ..............................................16 

IX. CROSS-TRAIN FIRE AND EMS .........................................................................................17 

X. INCREASE RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION.....................................................................18 

XI. COMMUNITY RISK REDUCTION PLANNING ......................................................................19 

XII. CANCER PREVENTION ....................................................................................................21 

XIII. COMMUNICATIONS ........................................................................................................22 

REFERENCES ............................................................................................................................ 23 

APPENDIXES ............................................................................................................................. 25 

APPENDIX A:  Resolution of the Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

APPENDIX B:  Scope of Study Agreement  

Recognition - Page 4



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
2 of 28 

STUDY TEAM MEMBERS 

Virginia Fire Services Board 

Walter Bailey     VA Fire Services Council 

Virginia Department of Health – Office of Emergency Medical Services 

Chris Vernovai Emergency Medical Services Systems Planner 

Jimmy Burch EMS Program Representative Supervisor 

Virginia Department of Fire Programs 

Ken Brown Coordinator of Community Risk Reduction 

Will Merritt Marketing and Communications Manager 

Spencer Willett Government Affairs Manager 

The group above is herein after referred to as “Study Team.” 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

The Virginia Fire Services Board would like to extend thanks to the following organizations and 

individuals for their contribution to this study: 

Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

Richard Douglas, County Administrator 

Reid Foster, Public Safety Coordinator 

Nick Sheffield, Chief of Emergency Services 

Thomas Hicks, Interim Public Safety 

Coordinator 

Jarratt Volunteer Fire Dept. 

Stony Creek Volunteer Fire Dept. 

Sussex Courthouse Volunteer Fire Dept. 

Wakefield Volunteer Fire Dept.  

Waverly Volunteer Fire Dept. 

Stony Creek Rescue Squad 

Waverly Rescue Squad 

Recognition - Page 5



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
3 of 28 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report documents the findings and recommendations for the Sussex County Fire and 

Emergency Medical Services (EMS) Study. This study and the information contained herein 

should not be construed as legal advice or as binding recommendations for Sussex County. This 

report provides guidance to the Sussex County Board of Supervisors, its fire and EMS 

organizations, and other stakeholders in the community regarding public safety. Sussex County 

should strive to meet and/or exceed the recommendations contained in this report to enhance the 

overall quality of fire-rescue delivered to citizens and visitors of Sussex County.  

This study was requested by a resolution of the Sussex County Board of Supervisors to analyze 

five working areas which include:  

• Organization

• Budget and Administration

• Training

• Delivery of Services/staffing

• Fleet Design and Management (Equipment/Apparatus)

In addition, community risk reduction was included by members of the study team because it 

encompasses all the above areas. 

The study was conducted by the Virginia Fire Services Board, in partnership with the Virginia 

Department of Fire Programs and the Virginia Department of Health’s Office of Emergency 

Medical Services. The above referenced working areas served as a guide for the study team to 

identify issues, evaluate current fire-rescue operations, and make recommendations to improve 

Sussex County fire and rescue services.  

Sussex County recently created the Chief of Emergency Services position to oversee fire and 

EMS. This position replaced the Public Safety Coordinator. This report makes recommendations 

that should be carried out by the Chief of Emergency Services with the support of the County 

Administrator and the Sussex County Board of Supervisors. Sussex County should establish and 

codify the Sussex County Department of Emergency Services, which should be led by the Chief 

of Emergency Services and include the five volunteer fire departments, two rescue squads, 

contract staff and future career staff. This department should establish standard operating 

procedures and guidelines, coordinate recruitment and retention, manage the county’s emergency 

services budget, and ensure training is provided to both career and volunteer personnel. 

As part of the creation of the Department of Emergency Services, each public safety agency 

should sign a memorandum of understanding that outlines expectations and responsibilities for 

responding to emergencies. The Department of Emergency Services should also oversee one 

county EMS license from the Virginia Department of Health that all volunteer agencies fall 

under.  

The Chief of Emergency Services should establish county-wide fire-EMS training standards, 

explore expanding training opportunities, and hire full-time or part-time staff to support 

volunteers in the delivery of emergency services. Training could include establishing a 

Recognition - Page 6



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
4 of 28 

relationship with Sussex County Public Schools and providing county level training on a 

monthly or quarterly basis. As a result of a declining number of volunteer EMS providers, 

Sussex County should hire part-time or full-time staff that work directly for the Department of 

Emergency Services to provide staffing on ambulances when volunteers are unavailable. These 

personnel should be cross trained as firefighters to offer immediate support to the volunteer fire 

departments when requested.  

It is in the best interests of Sussex County to establish a working relationship with Waverly 

Rescue Squad. In addition, it is in the best interests of Waverly Rescue Squad to work with the 

Chief of Emergency Services to begin providing more services to the citizens of Sussex County. 

The equipment and facilities owned by WRS and Stony Creek Rescue Squad could be utilized by 

county staff to provide EMS when volunteers are not available. The Chief of Emergency 

Services should work with both squads to expand recruitment and training opportunities to create 

more volunteer providers or drivers. 

The Chief of Emergency Services must examine the current practices and risks in Sussex County 

to better provide services. The study team recommends that the Chief of Emergency Services 

complete a community risk assessment to examine possible capital projects such as fleet 

replacement needs. This should lead to the development of a capital improvement plan to replace 

apparatus and improve public safety facilities in the county. As a component of the risk 

assessment, the Chief of Emergency Services should research the use of cooperative purchasing 

and centralized purchasing.  

Other important recommendations contained in this report include efforts to reduce cancer in 

firefighters, community paramedicine and encouraging the reporting of fires or emergencies to 

VFIRS and NFIRS. 

Recognition - Page 7



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
5 of 28 

METHODOLOGY 

The following is an overview of the study process: 

PHASE I: INITIATE PROJECT 

Objectives: Initiation of Study 

To initiate the study, the Sussex County Administrator sent a Resolution, on behalf of the Sussex 

County Board of Supervisors, to the Virginia Fire Services Board requesting a complete and 

thorough review of the fire and EMS system in the county (Reference Appendix A). 

The county requested the following areas of concentration: 

• Organization

• Budget and Administration

• Training

• Delivery of Services/staffing

• Fleet Design and Management (Equipment/Apparatus)

A study team was convened and the study team began by reviewing county-submitted data 

including the self-assessment questionnaire completed by the county. The team also began 

collecting and reviewing existing data, memorandums of understanding and relevant policies and 

procedures. 

As part of Phase I, the study team met with leadership from Sussex County to establish working 

relationships, make logistical arrangements, and determine communication lines. During these 

meetings, the study team discussed the objectives of the project and identified any issues and 

concerns central to the study. 

PHASE II: OBTAIN STAKEHOLDER INPUT 

Objectives: Conduct Leadership Interviews & Capture Input from the Departments 

The second phase of the study consisted of leadership interviews and department evaluations. 

The expectations were as follows: 

• Identify opinions of department officials concerning the operations and performance of

their department and county coordination;

• Identify issues and concerns of officials regarding fire and rescue services;

• Identify perceived gaps in existing service levels and new priorities in mission; and,

• Identify strengths and weaknesses as perceived by departmental personnel.

The study team, in coordination with county leadership, developed a schedule of face-to-face 

interviews with the five independent fire departments to include: Jarratt, Stony Creek, Sussex 

Courthouse, Wakefield, and Waverly. The study team also conducted face-to-face interviews 

with rescue squads in Stony Creek and Waverly.   

Recognition - Page 8



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
6 of 28 

The study team met with leadership from Sussex County to include the Sussex County 

Administrator as well as the outgoing Sussex County Public Safety Coordinator. The study team 

also visited the Sussex County Sheriff’s Office 911 Communications Center. 

All interviews were conducted during an allotted timeframe and a considerable amount of 

information was collected. A public hearing was advertised by the county and held on February 

27, 2023 to give the public an opportunity to share feedback with the study team regarding the 

Fire & EMS system in Sussex. 

During the interviews and public hearing, the study team received information regarding 

volunteer staffing levels, service delivery, budget information, apparatus, relationships between 

contract providers and volunteers, and other information about the operation of each volunteer 

department. The discussion also provided an opportunity for each organization to share 

comments regarding service delivery of fire & EMS services in the county and possible areas for 

improvement.  

PHASE III: PREPARE ANALYSES AND DEVELOP CORE STRATEGIES 

Objectives: Evaluate Current Trends and Prepare a Report 

The third phase of the study involved further investigation and understanding of the 

organizational structures, operations, limitations, achievements, and opportunities for 

improvement within the fire and EMS delivery system. The activities that supported this process 

consisted of additional requests for information not already obtained in Phase I and II of the 

work plan. Data requests, made in this phase of the study, attempt to address any issues that 

emerged from the interviews, and further evaluate implications of the operational issues cited. 

During this phase, the study team worked with incoming Chief of Emergency Services Nick 

Sheffield and Thomas Hicks, Interim Public Safety Director. Data obtained during the study 

process also assists the study team in identifying issues influencing the current levels of service. 

After receiving and critically evaluating information from the interviews and all supporting 

materials, the study team began identifying the necessary and critical action steps to achieve 

effective and uniform service levels throughout the county. 

PHASE IV: PREPARE FINAL REPORT 

Objectives: Prepare and Present Final Report 

The final phase of the study involved documenting the results of all previous tasks into a written 

report with critical components, such as an executive summary, methodology, background, and 

findings and recommendations. Once completed, a draft report was shared with the Sussex 

County Administrator to ensure the technical content in this report is accurate. Upon receiving 

corrections, the study team revised the draft report, as needed, to assist in the preparation and 

issuance of the final report.

Recognition - Page 9



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
7 of 28 

COUNTY INFORMATION 

Sussex County is a rural community located southeast of the City of Richmond, Virginia with a 

primarily agricultural economy.  Natural resources in the county are plentiful, with 130 farms 

and over 250,000 acres of commercial forestry land.1 The county was developed in 1754 from 

portions of Surry County, with original settlers arriving in the early 1600s from England.2 

The county has 496 square miles of land, with 4 incorporated towns that include Wakefield, 

Waverly, Jarratt, and Stony Creek. Interstate 95 traverses the county and splits the county 

between Eastern and Western areas. Five counties border Sussex County including Dinwiddie, 

Prince George, Surry, Southampton, and Greensville. 

The estimated population in Sussex County in 2021 was 10,763 people with a household income 

of $56,968 and a total of 4,677 housing units.3 The majority of the county’s citizens reside in the 

Eastern half of the County, near the Towns of Wakefield and Waverly.  

The county operates under the guidance of the Board of Supervisors. Board members represent 

each of the six magisterial districts. In addition, there is one at-large member elected to break ties 

on the six-member Board of Supervisors. The County Administrator serves as the Chief 

Administrative Officer and executive for the county.  

FIGURE 1: SUSSEX COUNTY EXISTING FIRE DISTRICTS 

A snapshot of Sussex County GIS mapping software shows the location of each fire station in the 

county. EMS stations are not shown. 

1 “About Sussex County” Sussex County, Virginia (2023) 
2 “Sussex History” Sussex County, Virginia (2023) 
3 “Sussex County, Virginia” U.S Census Bureau (2022) 

Recognition - Page 10



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
8 of 28 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

The recommendations contained in this study are not a requirement for the county to implement. 

The recommendations are to be used as a guideline of potential solutions that will assist the 

county as it further develops its capabilities to provide fire and EMS services. The purpose of the 

study is to review weaknesses and strengths of Sussex County’s current fire and EMS practices, 

providing recommendations to better serve the citizens and visitors of Sussex County. 

Recommendations below refer to National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) standards, 

including NFPA 1720: Standard on Organization and Deployment of Fire Suppression 

Operations, Emergency Medical Operations, and Special Operations to the Public by Volunteer 

Fire Departments. According to chapter 1 of NFPA 1720, the standard defines “levels of service, 

deployment capabilities, and staffing levels for substantially volunteer fire departments. It 

contains minimum requirements for deploying fire suppression and EMS for service delivery, 

response capabilities and resources. It also contains requirements for managing resources and 

systems such as health and safety, incident management, training, communications, and pre-

incident planning. It addresses the strategic and system issues involving the organization, 

operations, and deployment of a volunteer fire department.”4 

The National Fire Protection Association provides industry-wide best practices for fire and EMS 

service. Although the NFPA standards are considered best practices, the study team understands 

that not all NFPA standards are attainable in individual jurisdictions. Sussex County should 

strive to meet NFPA standards to provide best-in-class service to its citizens and visitors. 

It is important to keep in mind who the Authority Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) is, which in this 

case could be the Sussex County Department of Emergency Services. In accordance with all 

NFPA codes the AHJ is “an organization, office, or individual responsible for enforcing the 

requirements of a code or standard, or for approving equipment, materials, an installation, or a 

procedure.  (1720 -2020, 3.2.2) 

I. CREATE A DEPARTMENT OF EMERGENCY SERVICES

Sussex County is experiencing significant strain providing emergency medical services to its 

citizens and visitors. Historically, volunteers from Stony Creek Rescue Squad and Waverly 

Rescue Squad provided EMS within Sussex County. Both organizations still have state of the art 

equipment, are licensed through the Commonwealth of Virginia, and are capable of providing 

EMS within Sussex County. Stony Creek Rescue Squad continues to provide volunteer staffing 

for the Western half of Sussex County. 

Sussex County utilizes contract EMS providers to provide EMS coverage in addition to 

volunteer staffing during the day countywide, with contract staff being the sole providers in the 

Eastern half of the county. The ability of volunteer rescue squads to staff has decreased, resulting 

in the increased use of contract staff. Sussex County, and some volunteer organizations, have had 

difficulty with the contract providers and the level of service provided. 

4 NFPA 1720, Standard on Organization and Deployment of Fire Suppression Operations, Emergency Medical 

Operations, and Special Operations to the Public by Volunteer Fire Departments, NFPA 2020 

Recognition - Page 11



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
9 of 28 

Considering the issues associated with previous contract coverage in Sussex County, and with a 

decline in volunteer membership at both Waverly and Stony Creek Rescue Squads’, it is highly 

recommended that Sussex County create a Department of Emergency Services. 

Recommendations: 

1. Board of Supervisors should codify a Department of Emergency Services.

2. Board of Supervisors should identify the Chief of Emergency Services as the position

responsible for the supervision and authority of the Department of Emergency Services.

a. This position should be codified through a local ordinance outlining expectations

and responsibilities.

b. Administrative staff/support should be considered for the Chief of Emergency

Services.

3. The Chief of Emergency Services should be responsible for providing training, oversee

county funding for all fire and EMS operations, and for developing Standard Operating

Procedures and Guidelines for all aspects of emergency operations.

4. The Chief of Emergency Services should create an EMS Division and a Fire Division.

a. The EMS Division should include future career staff, contract staff, and the two

(2) volunteer rescue squads.

b. The Fire Division should consist of the five (5) volunteer fire departments.

5. The Chief of Emergency Services should provide oversight for Waverly Rescue Squad

and Stony Creek Rescue Squad.  Both squads should retain their own membership and

equipment, with clear roles and expectation for both the EMS division and the squads

outlined in standard operating procedures.

6. EMS Division career staff should staff ambulances when volunteer staffing is not

adequate or available as determined by the Chief of Emergency Services.

7. The County should provide senior volunteer leadership with the tools and responsibility

to properly manage the administrative activities of their agencies and assist the

Department of Emergency Services.

8. The Department of Emergency Services should oversee the purchase of supplies and

equipment.

9. The Chief of Emergency Services should continuously reassess staffing, both career and

volunteer, and make appropriate modifications to ensure adequate coverage 24-7.

a. If volunteer coverage in unavailable during an allotted time, career or contract

staff must be available to ensure adequate coverage.

10. The Department of Emergency Services should utilize the Virginia OEMS Standards of

Excellence Program. The purpose of the Virginia Standards of Excellence program is to

Recognition - Page 12



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
10 of 28 

identify and recognize EMS agencies that strive to operate above the standards and 

requirements of the Virginia EMS Regulations (12VAC5-31). The evaluation addresses 

several areas that collectively make up the operations of an EMS agency from several 

perspectives.5 

FIGURE 2: SUSSEX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF EMERGENCY SERVICES

II. DEVELOP A RELATIONSHIP WITH WAVERLY RESCUE SQUAD

The study team was provided a draft agreement between Waverly Rescue Squad and Sussex 

County to continue services, whether through volunteer providers or paid staff utilizing Wavery 

Rescue Squad resources. The study team makes the following recommendations concerning 

Waverly Rescue Squad. 

Recommendations: 

1. The Department of Emergency Services and Waverly Rescue Squad sign a Memorandum

of Understanding outlining expectations over facilities, equipment, staffing, and response

expectations.

2. Waverly Rescue Squad become a component of the EMS Division of the Department of

Emergency Services.

3. Any contracted EMS staff should be under contract with Sussex County. If the contracted

EMS staff utilize WRS equipment, the county and WRS should establish in the above-

mentioned MOU what responsibilities the contracted staff have for maintaining WRS

owned property.

5 OEMS: Virginia Standards of Excellence Program 

Recognition - Page 13



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
11 of 28 

a. A formalized process should be developed for WRS to file grievances with county

staff or contracted staff.

b. The above-mentioned MOU should outline an investigative process and possible

consequences if the MOU is not followed by county staff, contracted staff, or

WRS volunteers.

4. The Chief of Emergency Services may consult the Virginia Department of Health’s

Office of Emergency Medical Services for mediation in the process of establishing the

future EMS system in Sussex County.

5. The Chief of Emergency Services should support WRS with recruitment (highlighted in

various areas of this report) and training. Increasing the number of volunteer providers

benefits the county and continues to support the community’s wishes.

III. HIRE FULL-TIME OR PART-TIME PROVIDERS

Sussex County has one full-time position in public safety, the Chief of Emergency Services. This 

position oversees public safety and emergency preparedness in the county while working with 

volunteer agencies and contracted providers. A decline in volunteer providers, especially 

regarding EMS, and issues regarding contract providers, suggest that Sussex County should hire 

full-time or part-time staffing. 

Recommendations: 

1. The Chief of Emergency Services should hire full-time or part-time staff to primarily

provide EMS, with additional fire response duties if required.

a. This staff should report to the Chief of Emergency Services and fall under the

EMS Division.

b. This staff should provide primary EMS coverage for Sussex County, utilizing

county-owned ambulances or rescue squad ambulances through an agreement

with each rescue squad.

i. Both Waverly Rescue Squad and Stony Creek Rescue Squad can staff

additional ambulances or work with Sussex County to establish a crew

schedule to reduce the need for county staff.

2. Enough county staff should be hired/on a shift to cover regular operations and call

volume in Sussex County.

a. Currently contract providers provide three ambulances during the day and one at

night with a total of six (6) personnel. At night, two (2) contracted personnel

respond from Waverly and volunteers respond from Stony Creek.

b. The study team recommends that the county staff a Quick Response Vehicle at

night with paid personnel in the Western half of Sussex County. This would

increase paid staffing to four (4) at night.

c. The Chief of Emergency Services should explore hiring Sussex County staff to

cover the six (6) positions during the day and four (4) at night. Volunteer

leadership should be approached to fill these positions with regular duty crews to

Recognition - Page 14



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
12 of 28 

reduce the number of career staff needed. Volunteers and county staff should be 

able to respond together to reduce the number of career staff required. 

3. Sussex County should transition from contracted EMS to a combination system of county

staff and volunteers as suggested above.

4. County staff should regularly train and interact with volunteer EMS providers and

firefighters.

IV. ADOPT ONE COUNTY EMS LICENSE

The study team noted that Waverly Rescue Squad and Stony Creek Rescue Squad each operated 

under their own EMS license as issued by the Virginia Department of Health. In addition, 

contract providers operated under their own license issued by the Virginia Department of Health. 

Sussex County did not have an EMS license. 

Recommendations: 

1. Sussex County should have one EMS license and one operational medical director

(OMD) under the Department of Emergency Services.

2. Any EMS agency operating in Sussex County should fall under this EMS license.

3. One EMS license and OMD ensures uniformity across the county and reduces liability

for personnel working together from different agencies with different OMDs.

4. The Chief of Emergency Services should contact the Virginia Department of Health’s

Office of Emergency Medical Services for assistance and mediation in the process of

establishing a single EMS license in the county.

V. FIRE AND EMS RISK ASSESSMENT

A fire and EMS risk assessment is essential to make strategic long-term decisions regarding fire 

and EMS in Sussex County. A comprehensive assessment must look at the apparatus fleet, 

facilities, staffing, funding, and other aspects of the fire and EMS system deemed necessary by 

the locality. 

The study team visited five fire stations and two rescue squad stations, as well as a county public 

safety facility, while compiling information for this report. Many of the facilities were in need of 

repair or expansion. Most of the facilities did not have the ability to accommodate overnight 

crews and some lacked space for regular business of the volunteer agencies. Of note, Sussex 

County Public Safety was operating out of a former business that did not provide indoor storage 

for ambulances or adequate housing for staff. 

Recommendations: 

1. The Chief of Emergency Services conduct a fleet risk assessment that includes:

Recognition - Page 15



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
13 of 28 

a. A focus on apparatus that meet community specific needs such as population

density, zoning, development, previous call data, etc.

a. The assessment should examine what the adequate number of each category of

response vehicle is for each fire district or EMS district. The referenced categories

of response vehicles include:

i. engine/pumper

ii. aerial device

iii. tanker/tender

iv. brush vehicle

v. EMS vehicle (ambulance or other).

2. The Chief of Emergency Services should create a fleet replacement schedule in

consultation with the volunteer emergency agencies.

a. The Chief of Emergency Services should prioritize future fleet replacement plans

based on the most urgent needs.

b. The Chief of Emergency Services should consult volunteer agencies regarding

volunteer owned apparatus. This apparatus should be included in the fleet

replacement schedule if county funds will be utilized to maintain the vehicle or

purchase a replacement.

c. The fleet replacement schedule should consider which vehicles gain more mileage

or engine time. These vehicles should be rotated with lesser used vehicles of the

same type to ensure complete use of a vehicle.

i. For example, if station #1’s ladder truck runs more often than station #2’s,

then these units should be swapped to create a longer service life for both

ladder trucks.

d. Apparatus that cannot be regularly staffed by volunteers or career staff (75% of

the time) should be considered surplus apparatus and be of lower priority

compared to frequently used apparatus.

e. See the below fleet management plan as examples only. The study team does not

endorse any of the information contained in these reports produced by outside

agencies.

i. Tuolumne County, Cal Fire:

https://tuolumnecounty.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/20010/2022-TCFD-

Fleet-Replacement-Plan-FINAL?bidId=

3. The Chief of Emergency Services should analyze staffing for both fire and EMS in the

county. NFPA 1720 refers to staffing recommendations for fire apparatus and fire

responses in volunteer organizations.  This should be used as a reference when making

staffing decisions.

a. This staffing model should consider volunteer recruitment and retention. If

volunteer numbers continue to decline, Sussex County must invest in the

necessary facilities, equipment, and personnel to provide fire and EMS to citizens

and visitors.

Recognition - Page 16

https://tuolumnecounty.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/20010/2022-TCFD-Fleet-Replacement-Plan-FINAL?bidId=
https://tuolumnecounty.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/20010/2022-TCFD-Fleet-Replacement-Plan-FINAL?bidId=


The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
14 of 28 

4. The Chief of Emergency Services should analyze how fire and EMS is funded. This

should include an audit of fire and EMS agencies, a review of major sources of revenue,

and an analysis of how other similarly sized jurisdictions are funded.

5. The Chief of Emergency Services should review facilities for building age, location,

ability to house current and future apparatus, and connection to the community.

6. The Chief of Emergency Services should plan for the renovation or construction of new

facilities that include overnight housing options for potential career staff or volunteers to

utilize.

7. The Chief of Emergency Services should consider combining fire and EMS stations in

areas that currently have multiple stations serving the same general area. These shared

facilities could be utilized by the volunteer fire departments, rescue squads, county staff,

and the community. This would foster greater cohesion between all parties involved.

VI. DEVELOP STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES AND GUIDELINES

It was noted that Standard Operating Procedures or Guidelines were either not in place or were 

incomplete during interviews with the volunteer organizations. Further, it was noted that 

standards were not uniform from agency to agency, including contract EMS providers. 

It was clear to the study team that the county volunteer fire departments operated well together 

and had a positive relationship with the county. It was also clear that there were operational 

issues between Waverly Rescue Squad and Sussex County.  A proposed EMS plan was provided 

to the Study Team between Wavery Rescue Squad and Sussex County. 

The Study Team found that no formal agreement existed between the 5 fire departments, the 2 

rescue squads, or Sussex County. 

Standard Operating Guidelines (SOGs) are written guidelines that explain what is expected of 

emergency personnel in performing their duties.  SOGs are a “how-to” guideline to follow in 

order to achieve a desired goal. SOGs are not necessarily rules or regulations, but rather a path to 

achieve specific goals and objectives. Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) are formal policies 

that specify a course of action, thereby ensuring efficiency, predictability, consistency, and 

safety. 

Recommendations: 

1. Sussex County should form a team that includes representatives from each volunteer

emergency agency, the EMS contract provider, and the Chief of Emergency Services to

develop SOGs and SOPs. These SOGs and SOPs should reflect the needs of the citizens,

capabilities of the involved parties, and the safety of emergency personnel.

2. NFPA 1720 recommends that fire departments have written administrative regulations,

departmental orders, and/or procedures. The above recommendation helps Sussex move

closer to NFPA compliance.

Recognition - Page 17



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
15 of 28 

3. It is recommended that SOPs be developed that outline response expectations, duties of

Sussex County, and duties of the individual volunteer organizations.

a. The agreements should ensure there is a clear delineation for liabilities, cost of

service, authorization to respond, as well as staffing and equipment.

4. This recommendation meets NFPA 1720.6

VII. BUDGET RECOMMENDATIONS

The study team noted that Sussex County provided substantial funding for new apparatus for the 

volunteer fire departments and assisted with other operating costs. The study team makes the 

following recommendations to improve the fiscal stability of the Department of Emergency 

Services because many require long-term planning and funding to be successful. In addition, 

centralized and cooperative purchasing can be utilized to reduce costs. 

Recommendations: 

1. The Chief of Emergency Services should, in consultation with the volunteer agencies,

implement a capital improvement plan that addresses apparatus, equipment such as hose,

turnout gear, and self-contained breathing apparatus, facilities, and other long-term

projects for fire and EMS as identified in the risk assessment.

2. The Chief of Emergency Services should implement centralized purchasing for fire and

EMS.  This process should be included in county SOP.

a. Many items, including medical supplies and items used daily, can be centrally

stored in accordance with OEMS regulation and distributed. In addition, many

equipment purchases could be made county-wide to increase interoperability and

reduce costs

3. The Chief of Emergency Services should implement cooperative purchasing. This

process should be included in county SOP.

a. Cooperative purchasing is frequently used by government and among businesses

to aggregate demand to reduce prices from suppliers. This option often reduces

costs for localities and leverages buying power more effectively than ordering

supplies independently. The recommendations below provide information on two

cooperative purchasing options. The study team does not endorse either program.

Each locality should research cooperative purchasing and find what is best for

them.

4. The Department of Emergency Services should work with Sussex County staff to

implement centralized purchasing and cooperative purchasing. SOP should establish

processes for volunteer and paid staff to request items for purchase.

Examples: 

6 NFPA 1720 4.8 

Recognition - Page 18



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
16 of 28 

1. NPPGov: The National Volunteer Fire Council has partnered with NPPGov, a

cooperative purchasing organization focusing on fire and emergency medical products

and services. NVFC members can use NPPGov’s competitively bid agreements to

purchase products and services at national pricing without having to conduct their own

RFP process.7

2. Sourcewell: Sourcewell is one of the largest cooperative purchasing organizations in the

United States. Combining the purchasing power of over 50,000 public agencies, this

option also allows localities to purchase products at national pricing without conducting

an RFP process. 8

Please refer to Virginia procurement policy and your locality’s procurement policy when 

examining cooperative purchasing.  

VIII. DEVELOP COUNTY-WIDE TRAINING STANDARDS

The importance of training in fire and EMS cannot be overstated. Training can occur at many 

levels, including local agency specific training, certification level training, or skills-based 

training offered through private organizations. Many of the fire departments in Sussex County 

stated they scheduled monthly training for membership. The county does not offer training 

directly or provide dedicated resources for training. Most departments did not have minimum 

training standards that required certification level training such as Firefighter I and Firefighter II. 

VDFP suggests that firefighters receive certification level training such as Firefighter I to be 

considered interior firefighters and encourages the Chief of Emergency Services to work with 

VDFP to provide a certification class, such as modular Firefighter I, in Sussex County.  

County-wide training standards should be developed for possible paid staff and volunteer fire 

and EMS professionals.  

Recommendations: 

1. The Chief of Emergency Services, in consultation with the volunteer fire chiefs and

rescue squad leadership, should develop county-wide training standards with reasonable

timeline requirements.

2. Fire and EMS training standards should be uniform across all agencies.

3. The Chief of Emergency Services should consider adding a training coordinator position

under the Chief of Emergency Services (career or volunteer) that schedules county-

sponsored training for fire and EMS services. This training should occur at each fire

station and rescue squad and be open to all first responders in Sussex County.

a. The training coordinator should also be responsible for working with VDFP staff,

OEMS staff, and Sussex County first responders to schedule training and

continuing education.

7 “NPPGOV Provides Cooperative Purchasing Options” National Volunteer Fire Council, 2022 
8 “Cooperative Purchasing” Sourcewell, 2023 

Recognition - Page 19



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
17 of 28 

4. The Chief of Emergency Services should explore creating a Firefighter I training program

with Sussex County Public Schools. The academic portion of the course could be taught

within Sussex County Public Schools, with the Department of Emergency Services

handling skills training with the assistance of the volunteer fire departments.

5. The Chief of Emergency Services should explore creating an EMT-basic course with

Sussex County Public Schools in partnership with OEMS.

6. The Chief of Emergency Services should implement the EMS Officer Program. The

Office of EMS and the State EMS Advisory Board Workforce Development Committee

has created an EMS Officer Program that can be implemented in EMS agencies to help

boost leadership and help develop and maintain quality leaders in the EMS Community.

The program covers topics like human resource management, community and

government relations, administration and more.

Sussex County may need to adopt ordinances for training students under the age of 18 if not 

already established. Please contact VDFP to connect with other localities that utilize high 

school firefighter training programs.   

IX. CROSS-TRAIN FIREFIGHTERS AND EMS PROVIDERS

Currently, Sussex County has two rescue squads and one fire department that are licensed to 

provide EMS care. In addition, Sussex County utilizes contract EMS to provide care. According 

to Sussex County response data, the majority of emergency calls in the county are EMS related. 

Recommendations: 

1. The Chief of Emergency Services encourage cross-training of firefighters and EMS

providers. This can be accomplished by providing EMT-Basic courses or firefighter level

training.

2. Sussex County volunteer agencies encourage joint membership opportunities for

members to serve on both the fire department and rescue squad.

3. Sussex County fire departments establish a formal process for providing drivers to each

rescue squad when needed to reduce liability.

4. Any full-time or part-time staffing under the Department of Emergency Services should

be trained as both firefighters and EMS professionals (EMT-Basic, Paramedic, etc).

a. The primary role for staff should be EMS related.

b. Staff should have the ability, if requested or approved by the Chief of Emergency

Services and the volunteer fire chiefs, to utilize fire department equipment to

assist in life safety.

Recognition - Page 20



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
18 of 28 

X. INCREASE RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION EFFORTS

Volunteerism has been a part of the community tradition of the United States since the beginning 

of colonization.  At the origin of volunteer fire departments, volunteers were often the political 

leaders in a community.  Today, the volunteer labor force consists of citizens who are more 

technologically savvy and driven by an entirely different set of criteria with a common bond of 

helping the community. The average age of a volunteer member in the fire service today is above 

50 years old.9  The fire service often tends to subscribe to the belief that all members should be 

able to do all things.  This strategy may not be successful in today’s culture.  A more productive 

belief is that a fire department should be viewed as a team with several different groups of 

individuals being responsible for specific functions.   

Sussex County is made up of dedicated volunteer first responders who provide emergency 

services to their fellow citizens. All Sussex County fire departments and rescue squads expressed 

issues with recruitment of volunteers. This poses the strongest threat to public safety in Sussex 

County if numbers continue to decline. The study team learned that there was no formalized 

recruitment or marketing of volunteer agencies in the county. 

Recommendations: 

1. Review Fire Department Culture: The Chief of Emergency Services, and each volunteer

agency, should encourage a modification of the “how we do things culture”.  Each

department should do an assessment to determine what the main operational areas are for

their organization.  This would allow for the targeted recruitment of individual members

to handle non-emergent functions such as fundraising, entering fire reports,

marketing/social media initiatives, fire & life safety education and community programs,

human resource management, station & apparatus maintenance, and In- house training.

By utilizing these specialized groups to achieve specific tasks, it works to free up the

demands on those members that are interested in responding to emergencies and

maintaining the necessary training.

2. Develop a “See People Like Me” Culture: The “culture” should become more inclusive.

It appeared that white male members for outnumbered all other members.  It is difficult to

recruit members from citizens receiving services if they don’t “see people like me”.  It

should be a goal of the Chief of Emergency Services to have membership which reflects

the race and gender demographics of the county which are approximately:

White – 39.1% Black – 55.1% Other – 1.8% 

Male – 58.6%  Female 41.3% 

3. Utilize the “Make Me a Firefighter” Recruitment Tool: The Chief of Emergency Services

and each volunteer agency should utilize The NVFC’s “Make Me A Firefighter”

recruitment tool. This features a department portal filled with resources and tools for

implementing a local recruitment campaign as well as a public web site to allow potential

volunteers to find local opportunities.  There are step-by-step guides and resources on

marketing and planning events to engage prospective recruits.  It allows the posting of

9 “Volunteer firefighters are getting older. It could be a life-or-death issue” NPR 2023 

Recognition - Page 21



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
19 of 28 

volunteer opportunities by entering them into a database which is searchable to potential 

volunteers who can connect directly with the department through 

MakeMeAFirefighter.org. It is possible to customize campaign materials with 

departmental specific information and customize outreach materials for each individual 

department for use in the community.   

4. The Chief of Emergency Services should develop a Recruitment and Retention Plan with

consultation from each volunteer agency.

a. The National Volunteer Fire Council provides an outline for volunteer agencies to

use when developing this plan.10

b. Sussex County should market volunteer agencies through social media and other

means to solicit volunteers.

c. Sussex County should explore direct benefits for volunteers such as:

i. Pay per call

ii. VOLSAP

iii. Tax Exemptions

XI. COMMUNITY RISK REDUCTION PLANNING

Why do public safety agencies respond to an emergency? They respond to emergency incidents 

to mitigate the impact, damage, and injury within communities.  Communities can proactively 

approach and possibly prevent these same “risks” or events by utilizing the concepts of 

community risk reduction (CRR). 

CRR is defined by Vision 20/20 as “a process to identify and prioritize local risks, followed by 

the integrated and strategic investment of resources (emergency response and prevention) to 

reduce their occurrence and impact.”11   Fire departments have been actively involved in fire 

prevention for many years through public education, building inspections and other activities.   

CRR provides a more focused approach to reducing local identified specific risks. 

Although there is no specific blueprint for developing CRR plans, there are some common and 

essential steps.  Much of the current literature and training materials suggest that community risk 

reduction programs use a six-step approach towards development.  

1) Identify Risks 4) Prepare Plan

2) Prioritize Risks 5) Implement Plan

3) Develop Strategies 6) Monitor, Evaluate, & Modify Plan

Ultimately, the CRR plan will be unique to each locality, based on the types of risks identified 

for that community. 

Risk assessment is the identification of potential and likely risks within a particular community, 

and the process of prioritizing those risks. It is the critical initial step in emergency preparedness.  

This process is based on the collection and review of community profile information comprised 

10 “Develop a Recruitment and Retention Plan” National Volunteer Fire Council  
11 Vision 20/20 Community Risk Reduction, Institution of Fire Engineers-USA Branch 

Recognition - Page 22



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
20 of 28 

of a loss /event history profile and the response environment.  The response environment looks at 

the type of incidents to which public safety organizations in the community respond, and the 

capabilities of these organizations.  The loss/event profile looks at past experiences and trends in 

response, losses and causes.  A risk assessment helps focus the fire prevention/loss prevention 

activities of the community and department.”12  

Recommendation: 

1. The Chief of Emergency Services should conduct a community risk assessment to

identify potential and likely risks within Sussex County, prioritize those risks, and

analyze the capabilities of fire and EMS agencies in Sussex County. A CRA is the first

step in strategically planning for a safer community in Sussex County.

2. The Chief of Emergency Services can request the VDFP CRR Coordinator return and

assist the county in its Community Risk Assessment (CRA)

a. NFPA 1720 indicates that the emergency services engage in the development of a

community risk management plan for fire, emergency medical service, and

hazardous materials use, storage, and transportation within the county. (NFPA

1720, 4.2;4.2.1;4.2.2; 4.2.3.1)

3. The Chief of Emergency Services should ensure that all non-reporting county fire

departments are strongly encouraged to start or continue fire reporting via VFIRS.  Not

only does this process provide insight into the county’s emergency responses and trends,

but it can also provide a means of comparing local trends to regional and national trends.

As stated above this information is critical for the identification and mitigation of any

community risks.

4. The Chief of Emergency Services should explore a Community Paramedicine (CP)

Program.

a. A CP program is designed to alleviate the burden on existing medical, social

services, and emergency services by misappropriated requests for resources.

Disparities in access to healthcare exist across the system and involve many

factors including location, race, gender and income. Due to the inability of some

Americans to obtain effective healthcare, patients will turn to one resource that is

always available – EMS, supported by hospital-based emergency medicine.

Inability to access appropriate care leads to activation of the EMS system as it is

the only assistance some people can depend on.

b. An effective CP program must be data-driven. A common reason programs fail is

that their creation and intent differ from the needs of the community. An effective

CP program must be a root cause and data-driven process. Root causes may

consist of geographic locations of frequent EMS calls, spikes in call volume at a

particular location or for a person, and/or repeated requests for service for another

individual. A common reason programs fail is that their creation and intent differ

from the needs of the community.13

12 “Understanding & Implementing Standards” (2010) NVFC 
13 Community Paramedicine: What, why and how?, 2022 

Recognition - Page 23



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
21 of 28 

c. Consult the Office of Emergency Medical Services’ website for more information

and important documents or refer to NFPA 451 – Guide for Community Health

Care Programs as a resources for this recommendation:

https://www.vdh.virginia.gov/emergency-medical-services/community-

paramedicine-mobile-integrated-healthcare/

XII. CANCER PREVENTION

As stated in the Lavender Ribbon Report developed by the NVFC and IAFC, cancer is the 

leading health risk facing firefighters, largely due to the chemicals and carcinogens they are 

exposed to while engaged in response activities.14 Chemically based plastics are in use in nearly 

every product in our homes, business and vehicles and when they burn, their chemical 

composition changes. 

Recommendations: 

1. The Chief of Emergency Services should develop operational SOP’s that establish safe

cancer prevention practices such as:

a. Gross decontamination after fire incidents

b. Washing of firefighter PPE following fire or hazardous materials incidents

c. A fire hood exchange program

d. Shower facilities at fire stations

2. The Chief of Emergency Services should encourage /facilitate National Firefighter

Registry (NFR) sign up.

a. The Firefighter Cancer Registry Act of 2018 mandated the Centers for Disease

Control and Prevention (CDC) create a voluntary registry of firefighters to collect

health and occupational information to determine cancer incidence in the U.S. fire

service. In response to this mandate, CDC’s National Institute of Occupational

Safety and Health (NIOSH) established the National Firefighter Registry (NFR).15

b. There have been no comprehensive, national data sources in the United States for

studying the relationship between firefighting and cancer among all firefighters.

The NFR will help researchers better understand and reduce cancer in firefighters

by matching the information provided by participating NFR firefighters with

cancer diagnosis information from state cancer registries. This matching process

will allow NIOSH to study the relationship between firefighting and cancer

outcomes over time.

Step 1: Firefighters sign up for the NFR. 

Step 2: NIOSH researchers match firefighter profiles with potential 

information in state cancer registries over time. This makes it possible to 

study the relationship between firefighting and cancer over time, even if 

cancer diagnoses occur in the future. 

14 “Lavender Ribbon Report-Best Practices for Preventing Firefighter Cancer” (2021) NVFC & IAFC 
15 H.R 931 “Firefighter Cancer Registry Act of 2018”. (2018) 115th U.S Congress 

Recognition - Page 24

https://www.vdh.virginia.gov/emergency-medical-services/community-paramedicine-mobile-integrated-healthcare/
https://www.vdh.virginia.gov/emergency-medical-services/community-paramedicine-mobile-integrated-healthcare/


The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
22 of 28 

Step 3: NIOSH captures work history details. This information can be used 

to better understand firefighters’ exposures and how they may be related 

to cancer. 

Step 4: Stronger evidence can help inform new health and safety measures 

to protect firefighters from cancer. Combining information from 

firefighters across the U.S. will help researchers better understand cancer 

and its risk factors in the fire service, which could ultimately help reduce 

cancer among firefighters for generations to come. 

XIII. COMMUNICATIONS

Sussex County should consider updating its communication system to provide countywide radio 

coverage. During multiple meetings, fire and EMS personnel expressed concern over “dead” 

zones in the county where radio traffic could not be maintained.  

911 Communications was not within the scope of this study. The below recommendations are 

based on comments by fire and EMS personnel and are suggestions for Sussex County to 

investigate. 

Recommendation: 

1. The Chief of Emergency Services should conduct a study of radio communications in

Sussex County, working with each volunteer agency to determine areas that are not able

to be reached.

2. The Chief of Emergency Services should work with the Sussex County Sheriff’s Office

to address the reported “dead” zones in the county.

3. Sussex County should reference NFPA 1225: Standard for Emergency Services

Communications to review current radio usage and procedure

Recognition - Page 25



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
23 of 28 

REFERENCES 

About Sussex County. (2023) Sussex County, Virginia 

https://www.sussexcountyva.gov/page/about-sussex/ 

Bearne, A. (2023, June 13) Volunteer firefighters are getting older. It could be a life-or-death 

issue. National Public Radio. https://www.npr.org/2023/06/13/1181131195/volunteer-

firefighters-older-shortage-younger-workers-fire 

Brown, A and I. Urbina. (2014, August 16) The Disappearing Volunteer Firefighter. New York 

Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2014/08/17/sunday-review/the-disappearing-volunteer-

firefighter.html 

Cooperative Purchasing (2023) Sourcewell. https://sourcewell.org/solutions/cooperative-

purchasing 

Community paramedicine: What, why and how? (n.d.). EMS1. 

https://www.ems1.com/community-paramedicine/articles/community-paramedicine-

what-why-and-how-IJicPxx6GCvn70Cu/ 

Develop a Recruitment and Retention Plan. National Volunteer Fire Council. 

https://www.nvfc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/RR-Plan.pdf 

EMS Officer I. Office of Emergency Medical Services. 

https://www.vdh.virginia.gov/emergency-medical-services/chatr/leadership-

management/ems-officer-i/ 

H.R 931 “Firefighter Cancer Registry Act of 2018”. (2018) 115th U.S Congress.

https://www.congress.gov/115/plaws/publ194/PLAW-115publ194.pdf 

Lavender Ribbon Report. (2021, September 28). National Volunteer Fire Council. 

https://www.nvfc.org/lrr/ 

NFPA 1720: Standard for the Organization and Deployment of Fire Suppression Operations, 

Emergency Medical Operations, and Special Operations to the Public by Volunteer Fire 

Departments. (n.d.). National Fire Protection Association. https://www.nfpa.org/codes-

and-standards/all-codes-and-standards/list-of-codes-and-standards/detail?code=1720 

NFPA 1225: Standard for Emergency Services Communications. (n.d.). National Fire Protection 

Association. https://www.nfpa.org/codes-and-standards/all-codes-and-standards/list-of-

codes-and-standards/detail?code=1225 

Tuolumne County Fire Department Fleet Replacement Plan. (2022). California Department of 

Forestry and Fire Protection. Retrieved January 5, 2023, from 

https://tuolumnecounty.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/20010/2022-TCFD-Fleet-

Replacement-Plan-FINAL?bidId= 

Recognition - Page 26

https://www.sussexcountyva.gov/page/about-sussex/
https://www.npr.org/2023/06/13/1181131195/volunteer-firefighters-older-shortage-younger-workers-fire
https://www.npr.org/2023/06/13/1181131195/volunteer-firefighters-older-shortage-younger-workers-fire
https://www.nytimes.com/2014/08/17/sunday-review/the-disappearing-volunteer-firefighter.html
https://www.nytimes.com/2014/08/17/sunday-review/the-disappearing-volunteer-firefighter.html
https://sourcewell.org/solutions/cooperative-purchasing
https://sourcewell.org/solutions/cooperative-purchasing
https://www.nvfc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/RR-Plan.pdf
https://www.congress.gov/115/plaws/publ194/PLAW-115publ194.pdf
https://www.nfpa.org/codes-and-standards/all-codes-and-standards/list-of-codes-and-standards/detail?code=1720
https://www.nfpa.org/codes-and-standards/all-codes-and-standards/list-of-codes-and-standards/detail?code=1720
https://www.nfpa.org/codes-and-standards/all-codes-and-standards/list-of-codes-and-standards/detail?code=1225
https://www.nfpa.org/codes-and-standards/all-codes-and-standards/list-of-codes-and-standards/detail?code=1225
https://tuolumnecounty.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/20010/2022-TCFD-Fleet-Replacement-Plan-FINAL?bidId=
https://tuolumnecounty.ca.gov/DocumentCenter/View/20010/2022-TCFD-Fleet-Replacement-Plan-FINAL?bidId=


The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
24 of 28 

Orlyk, C. (2022, October 4). NPPGov Provides Cooperative Purchasing Options for Volunteer 

Fire and EMS Departments. National Volunteer Fire Council. 

Sussex History. (2023) Sussex County, Virginia 

 https://www.sussexcountyva.gov/page/sussex-history/ 

Understanding and Implementing Standards: NFPA 1851. (2014) National Volunteer Fire 

Council. https://www.nvfc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/1851_standards_guide.pdf 

U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Sussex County, Virginia. Census Bureau QuickFacts. 

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/sussexcountyvirginia 

Virginia Standards of Excellence Program. Office of Emergency Medical Services. 

https://www.vdh.virginia.gov/emergency-medical-services/virginia-standards-of-

excellence-program/ 

Vision 20/20 CRR Connect (2023) Institution of Fire Engineers – USA Branch. 

https://strategicfire.org/crr/ 

Recognition - Page 27

https://www.sussexcountyva.gov/page/sussex-history/
https://www.nvfc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/1851_standards_guide.pdf
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/sussexcountyvirginia
https://strategicfire.org/crr/


The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
25 of 28 

APPENDIX A 

Resolution requesting the Virginia Fire Services Board conduct a comprehensive analysis of the 

Fire and EMS system of Sussex County, Virginia  

Recognition - Page 28



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
26 of 28 

Recognition - Page 29



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
27 of 28 

APPENDIX B 

Scope of Agreement between the County of Sussex and the Virginia Fire Services Board 

Recognition - Page 30



The foregoing is a recommendation authorized pursuant to Va. Code 9.1-203.A.4 and is not to be construed as legal 

advice or as a binding recommendation. 
28 of 28 

Recognition - Page 31



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item: Recognitions #3.03 

Subject:  Introduction of New VDOT Franklin Residency Staff and Update of Routes 35/40 Safety 
Improvements and Other Projects – Paul Matticks, Resident Administrator 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:   Paul Matticks, Resident Administrator of the VDOT Franklin Residency, will be present 
to provide an introduction and present an update on various items, to include: 1) Route 35/40 
intersection safety improvements; 2) recommendations from the completed Wakefield-Rt 460 
safety study; and 3) other recent VDOT requests.   

Recommendation:   No action requested. 

Attachment:   None  

============================================================================== 

ACTION:    

MOTION BY: SECONDED BY: 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___  
(Tie Breaker) 

Recognition - Page 32



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:   Recognition #3.04 

Subject:  Regional EPA Brownfield Grant Application – Thomas Laughlin, TRC 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023   

============================================================================== 

Summary:  For informational purposes, Thomas Laughlin with TRC will present an overview of a 
regional EPA Brownfields grant application being prepared on behalf of Virginia’s Gateway 
Region.  If funded this study would address reuse of identified brownfield sites in Sussex County 
and throughout the region.  No local match is being requested for this grant application. 

Recommendation:  N/A 

Attachment:  None  

============================================================================== 

ACTION:   No action requested. 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 

Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

S. White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)

Recognition - Page 33



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:   Recognition #3.05 

Subject:  Stony Creek Grocery Store IRF Planning Grant Report – Jeff Sadler, Complete 
Community Economies 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023   

============================================================================== 

Summary:  Jeff Sadler with Complete Community Economies will present an overview of his 
recently completed feasibility study for the vacant grocery store property in Stony Creek 
(provided for your review separately).  This study was funded by an IRF planning grant and 
includes recommendations for the property.   

Recommendation:  No action is requested. 

Attachment:  Stony Creek Grocery Feasibility Final without ESA 

============================================================================== 

ACTION:   No action requested. 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 

Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

S. White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)

Recognition - Page 34



12485 MAIN ST
STONY CREEK, VA

FEASIBILITY STUDY

Complete Community Economies

August 28, 2023

Prepared by

Recognition - Page 35



42. APPENDIX B: PRO FORMAS

51. APPENDIX D: PHASE 1 ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

49. APPENDIX C: SURVEY

69. APPENDIX F: TITLE SEARCH

52. APPENDIX E: ROIC GROCERY REPORT

CONTENTS

03. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

11. MARKEY STUDY

06. THE PROPERTY

34. APPENDIX A: ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN

15. COUNTRY STORE CONCEPT

02 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 36



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is to provide Sussex County, Virginia information on the feasibility 
of rehabilitating the former grocery store property at 12485 Main Street in the 
Town of Stony Creek. The property consists of two adjoining buildings, a parking 
lot and additional unimproved land, some of which is used as a runoff swale. 

The main building, known as the Jones & Company Supermarket, was erected in 
1976 and has approximately 10000 sf under roof. The smaller, attached building 
was built in 2010 and, at roughly 2200 sf, was used as a laundromat. The parking 
lot can accommodate approximately 31 cars in its current configuration and is in 
satisfactory shape.

03 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 37



The property is zoned C-1, which is consistent with the past use and most likely
future uses. However, depending on the layout and future use, the parking lot
may need to be expanded or reconfigured to meet the requirements of one
space for every 200 sf of retail floor space.

The grocery business was an important asset to the community, providing 
essential products and services in an area otherwise bereft of fresh foods. 
According to the building owner, who operated the supermarket for 40 years and 
currently runs a grocery business in Charlottesville, business was still good until 
the COVID-19 pandemic interrupted customer visits, staff availability, and supply 
chains. These hardships were compounded when the Family Dollar store opened 
less than a half mile away, undercutting the prices on dry goods. As the property 
owner describes it, “business dropped off 30% within a week of Family Dollar 
opening.”

Stony Creek has many vacancies in commercial buildings, both retail and 
industrial. However, overall, the Town looks well maintained, with a few buildings 
in poor repair, including the building next to the subject property, which has 
a collapsed roof. There are at least two large defunct peanut sorting facilities, 
which dominate the built landscape. While most of the retail spaces are empty, a 
new barbecue place has recently opened, Big Pig Bar B Q, which, after only been 
a few months of operation, has more than 200 positive Google reviews. The 
Town has a park with a playground that looks to be in good repair.

The two biggest issues facing Stony Creek and this property are:

1
Stony Creek is a low-lying area prone to flooding. Most of the Town is 
within the 100 year flood plain and a good portion of the commercial 
area is within the 50-year flood plain. According to the most recent 
flood risk maps, this particular property is a little higher than much of 
the surrounding area and is rated to be in the 75-year flood plain, with 
an estimated 2% risk of flooding in any year. While this can not be 
ignored, mitigation efforts are likely possible and must be considered 
to protect the building and contents. To this point, there is a flood 
swale next to the building, built to redirect water from the building 
hold excessive runoff.

04 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 38

dconmy
Highlight



STONY CREEK, VA

2

SITE MAP

However, this access to I-95 and the more than 81,000 cars traveling past Stony 
Creek exit 31 each day is likely to be the key to any successful reuse of the 
subject property.

It was founded as major crossroads community, being at the It was 
founded as major crossroads community, being at the intersection 
of US 301 and state route 40 and with the completion of I-95, this 
crossing is no longer a major commercial intersection. Both Routes 40 
and 301 skirt the downtown of Stony Creek now, rather than intersect 
within district.

05 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 39

dconmy
Highlight



12485 MAIN STREET

I-95 EXIT 31

06 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 40



The property was built in 1976 and the grocery was opened for business January 
1977. In the early 1980s, the business changed hands and was run successfully 
for almost 40 years before closing.

From the exterior, the brick and glass façade is in mostly good condition, but 
shows some neglect from vacancy. The roof line shows damage to the drip edge 
and soffit in a couple of spots. The parking lot looks to be in acceptable condition 
and the general grounds are maintained satisfactorily.

THE PROPERTY

07 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 41



Once inside, however, the main building immediately shows damage from a 
significant roof leak. The owner stated that he was told that the fire department 
was using the building for training and accidentally put the hole in the roof. The 
entire roof will likely need to be removed and replaced, with the possibility of 
structural work being necessary, as well. Otherwise, the interior looks to have 
mostly deep cosmetic damages and will require a full “gut” job, which would 
likely be necessary, anyway, to meet contemporary design expectations and 
product needs. Roofing costs in the region are estimated at $12/sf. Although 
it may be possible to find a lower price, or it could be slightly higher, the roof 
replacement estimate for both buildings is $150,000. 

The structure showed no signs of instability, so a structural analysis was 
not made. Additionally, due to the date of construction and the adoption of 
the “Toxic Substances Control Act” in 1976 it is very unlikely that there is any 
asbestos in the building. While it is possible, a walk through did not identify any 
products (such as pipe wrap, tiles, fire retardant, or mastic) that would indicate 
the presence of asbestos. The same is true of underground oil tanks, as they 
were mostly no longer installed by the late 1970s. The owner stated that he 
did not use one and that he did not think there were any underground oil/fuel 
tanks on the property. However, since most lenders will require it, a Phase 1 
Environmental Inspection was procured and is attached as Appendix D. This 
report states there are no environmental hazards that need to be addressed, 
and the results of the Environmental Inspection need to be addressed.

08 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 42



Overall, the property is not currently in a usable condition, but could be
salvaged. New construction of a similar type is currently running $230 - $300/
sf, while high quality commercial rehab costs using a professional, licensed
and bonded general contractor are in the $150 - $250/sf range, depending on
finishes, Mechanical, Electrical, and Plumbing needs and how divided the finished
interior is. It is possible for a property owner to perform the General Contractor
duties themselves and save as much as 50% of the rehab costs, but this often
has a cost measured in time.

The assessed value of the land is S137,900 and the buildings are $196,300 for a
total assessed value of $334,000. The location of the building and the condition
and size of the parcel provide value to the building, but the building itself has
very limited sales value, due to the condition, regardless of the assessed value. It
has less than shell building value, because while a shell building is available for
almost immediate move-in with custom upfit ready to commence upon sale or
lease, this building needs extensive envelope repair (mostly the roof) and interior
demolition, both of which have monetary and time costs.

Raw land values in the area range from $2,000 - $10,000 per acre and a paved
parking lot adds value to a property, but is itself only as valuable as the parking
needs of the attached businesses or residences. As stated earlier, the parking
area may need to be reconfigured or enlarged, depending on the end use,
or a variance may need to be permitted. In Stony Creek proper, the building
next door on Lee Avenue, on .3 acres and with a collapsed roof, is listed for sale
at $50,000. The Lee Avenue building does not have a parking lot, but was a 2-
story structure before neglect destroyed the interior.

09 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 43



The property has a total of $174,039.03 in filed legal liens against the property. Of
this amount, $120,157.34 is owed to the Commonwealth of Virginia Department 
of Taxation and $27,842.30, or approximately 16%, is owed to the US Internal 
Revenue Service, making these liens more difficult to discharge. These amounts 
are from judgments filed at least eight years ago and likely have additional interest 
and penalties attached at this time.

Typically, Federal Tax Liens have a 10-year duration, which would have the IRS lien 
expire in 2026. State Tax Liens have a 20-year duration. Furthermore, the Private 
Judgement of $26,039.39 has an 18% interest rate attached. While the attorney 
handling the judgment could not be reached, it is estimated that the payoff 
amount required to clear this lien is approximately $115,500. It may be possible to 
negotiate this amount down, however.

While the US Treasury debt is unlikely to be discharged prematurely, it may be 
possible to negotiate with the Virginia Department of Taxation or Treasurer of 
Virginia, if the property was deemed a vital economic development project. If this 
effort were to be successful, it would likely require the cooperation or participation 
of the Town and/or County and support from regional or state economic 
development partners.

Additionally, as of August 15, 2023, the property owner owes $3,399.73 in back 
taxes to Sussex County. According to the Sussex County Treasurer's office, the 
owner is on a payment plan. While it should be clear that the following is not legal 
advice, our research indicates that if the County forced a tax sale and purchased 
the property during that sale, the previous debts may be discharged.

The owner is asking $350,000 for the property, which would likely cover the 
judgements and interest and penalties. Based on an estimated $1,250,000 - 
$2,000,000 in rehabilitation and upfit costs, this would put the project cost at 
approximately $1,600,000 to $2,350,000.

Given the lack of available or recently sold properties of this type in the area, there 
is no way to provide an accurate property appraisal, as stated by two commercial 
appraisers who were approached about providing an appraisal. Therefore, using 
a mathematical approach of the end use income vs cost of rehab, the estimated 
property value is in the $125,000 - $250,000 range. However, it is unlikely that 
the owner will be able to part with the property for anything less than the 
accumulated lien amounts.

10 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 44



MARKET STUDY

A 2022 Grocery Store Study of the property location, prepared by ROIC Analytics, 
showed that even with an expanded primary market area, the site would have 
total weekly sales of just over $100,000 per week. There is some doubt that this 
would be possible, given the proximity of a Family Dollar store about ½ mile 
away. The owner of the property, who ran the previous grocery in the location, 
stated that the Family Dollar opening resulted in an immediate 30% reduction in 
the business. This report is found in Appendix E.

If the $100,000 per week business were correct, with a shrinkage rate of 3% 
and average grocery store profit margin of 3%, there would be a profit of 
approximately $2,910 per week, or $151,000 per year. This profit would be on 
sales and operations, however and does not include the cashflows including debt 
service. With assumed yearly debt service of approximately $145,000 per year, 
this would leave the standard grocery operations unfeasible, even before staff, 
overhead, taxes, utilities, and insurance requirements.

In looking more deeply into the 2022 ROIC report, however, we see that the 
primary market area is approximately 13,000 people who earn, on average, 
below the state and national median income, as most of the area covered by 
the primary market area is roughly Sussex County, which has an AMI of $54,282 
as of 2021. The Virginia median income is $80,615 and the US median income is 
$70,784. Additionally, the grocery business is notorious for its low profit margins 
and requiring large volume to turn a profit. Grocery shoppers exhibit high levels 
of price consciousness and have become used to a great variety of products at 
the grocery stores they frequent. In short, while the success of the Wakefield 
Market has shown it is possible to make a small grocery operation profitable, the 
Wakefield Market customer base overlaps with the proposed primary market 
area used in the ROIC report, so it could cannibalize the existing market base, 
making even the projections of the ROIC seem optimistic.

11 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 45



With this in mind, the effort turned to flipping these disadvantages and 
determining a use for the property that could make the rehabilitation of the 
building worthwhile. To do this, we looked at three main opportunities:

LARGER POTENTIAL CUSTOMER BASE1

HIGHER MARGIN PRODUCT LINES2

LOWER COMPETITION3

LARGER POTENTIAL CUSTOMER BASE

Given Stony Creek’s location on I-95 with an exit leading to the entrance of the
town, the obvious way to increase the potential customer base is to create a
business that would appeal to some of the 81,000 vehicles that pass the nearest
exit daily on I-95. According to VDOT, approximately 85% of these vehicles are
“four tire,” meaning light duty trucks and passenger cars and vans. Extrapolating
from this, there are approximately 68,000 passenger vehicles that pass the Stony
Creek exit each day.

Additionally, if the operations of the property offered an experience that
was unique enough, the market could draw some portion of the Richmond-
Petersburg region, as it is approximately 45 minutes from Richmond and 20
minutes from Petersburg.

Both of these scenarios – attracting customers from the Richmond-Petersburg
area and compelling through travelers off of I-95 who may have a broader
range of tastes and preferences – could also have the effect of increasing the
income/wealth of the average customer, and therefore, their disposable income.

12 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 46



HIGHER MARGIN PRODUCT LINES

Groceries have some of the lowest profit margins in retail, relying on
extraordinary volume per square foot which are unlikely to be able to be
supported by the local population or store size. By identifying products that
have much higher profit margins and, preferably, higher individual item sales
prices, this location could make higher profits on fewer customers.

Some product lines that have higher profit margins are:

1
Luxury Goods: Luxury items such as designer clothing, high-end 
accessories, and premium jewelry often have significant profit margins 
often exceeding 150% due to their exclusivity and brand value.

2
Electronics: Certain electronic products like smartphones, tablets,
and gaming consoles can have high-profit margins near 50%, especially 
when they are in high demand or have advanced features. However, 
these items are easily outdated and then require significant discounts.

3
Cosmetics and Skincare: Beauty products, including cosmetics, skincare, 
and fragrances, often have high-profit margins of 50% - 300% due to 
their brand reputation and the perceived value they offer to consumers.

4
Specialty Foods and Beverages: Gourmet foods, artisanal
chocolates, fine wines, and craft spirits are examples of high margin
retail goods. These products often cater to niche markets and offer 
unique flavors or experiences. Exclusivity of market adds interest and 
value to these products. While traditional retailing of these products 
produces margins of 20-50%, a white label item (produced by another 
manufacturer but branded as the store's exclusive item) or item 
prepared on site can have a profit margin exceeding 300%.

13 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 47



5
Home Decor and Furniture: Upscale home decor items, luxury furniture, 
and unique home accessories and art can have higher profit margins, 
especially when they are positioned as premium or exclusive products. 
These products vary significantly in margin from 10% to more than 
1000% for hard to find items, such as antiques and art.

6
Designer Handbags and Accessories: Designer handbags, wallets, and 
accessories from well-known luxury brands are often associated with 
high margins due to their brand recognition and desirability.

LOWER COMPETITION

While grocery stores have immense competition from other grocery stores, they
also have competition from dollar stores like Family Dollar and Dollar General, as
well as “big box” stores such as Wal-Mart and Target and discount clubs such as
Sam’s Club.

What none of those options offer is a “special” experience that would reduce the
number of potential competitors. Identifying some products that would make
this location the only place – or at least one of the few places – that certain items
can be found could allow for increased margins and destination shopping.

Experiential retail refers to a marketing strategy that focuses on creating
immersive and engaging experiences for customers within a retail environment.
It goes beyond traditional retail by offering interactive elements, sensory
stimulation, and personalized interactions to enhance the overall shopping
experience. Experiential retail aims to create memorable moments that connect
with customers on an emotional level, fostering brand loyalty, increasing
customer engagement, and driving sales. This approach often involves
incorporating interactive displays, events, workshops, demonstrations, and other
experiential elements to create a unique and memorable shopping experience.

In addition to strictly experiential retail, personal services such as salons and
spas can be attractions in themselves, as they don't often rely on spur of the
moment customers or drive-by traffic for their business.

14 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 48



STONY CREEK 
COUNTRY STORE 
CONCEPT

As described earlier, the changes in the local markets require utilizing I-95 
and proximity to larger population centers such as Richmond/Petersburg and 
Emporia to increase the customer base. It is clear that the previous use as a local 
grocery store is no longer a viable option for the building.

After reviewing these prospects and researching the market, the most viable 
concept that fit the requirements to expand the primary market, increase profit 
margins, and differentiate the store from the surrounding market by highlighting 
the rural nature of the area and promoting its quality of life was The Stony Creek 
Country Store.

Stony Creek is a unique place with its own, unique feel. While we used several 
existing businesses as inspiration, none of them should be replicated whole 
cloth. What is presented below is a concept that draws from successful 
businesses but combines their elements in a way that will not only justify the 
rehabilitation of the former Jones and Company Super Market property, but can 
revitalize the Town of Stony Creek.

After reviewing these prospects and researching the market, the concept that 
fit the requirements to expand the primary market, increase profit margins, 
and differentiate the store from the surrounding market was The Stony Creek 
Country Store. 

15 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 49



While everyone knows about “South of the Border,” the famous tourist trap just 
south of the North Carolina/South Carolina line, this concept would be the “anti-
South of the Border;” a place where quality and calm prevail. While most people 
are embarrassed to say they stopped at a tourist trap, the Stony Creek Country 
Store will make visitors feel like they stumbled on to some great secret and can’t 
wait to tell their friends. Instead of junk made overseas, it could provide high 
quality and handcrafted goods made locally or regionally. The concept would 
be to attract I-95 travelers as they return home to the Northeast from trips 
the beaches of the Southeast or other places such as winter homes or family 
vacations. Let them stop for trinkets on their way down the coast, but have 
them stop for artisanal goods and beloved, one-of-a-kind gifts on their way back 
North.

The exit for the subject property, Exit 31, is one of the last “calm” exits as you 
head north on I-95. Every exit moving north from Exit 31 has increased traffic 
counts from the approximately 2,200 vehicles that use Exit 31. By the time a 
traveler passes Exit 41 (Courtland Road), traffic counts are well above 6,000 
vehicles per day. This provides an opportunity to provide one last stop for a 
peaceful respite before continuing a trip home to the North. With a gas station 
down the street, those stopping at the Country Store can fill up and not need to 
stop again until at least Wilmington; whether that be Wilmington, Delaware or 
Wilmington, North Carolina.

16 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 50



Having established that there is a potential market of some portion of the 
nearly 70,000 vehicles that pass on I-95 every day, plus some of the local 13,000 
residents in the primary market area, and the addition of – potentially – a small 
fraction of the 1.3 million people in the greater Richmond-Petersburg MSA, the 
goal would be to determine what product lines and/or services and activities 
would compel these people to stop at the Stony Creek Country Store and spend 
disposable income on goods and services with higher margins than standard 
groceries.

To be clear, the goal here is not to create a bustling tourist trap, but to provide
a short respite to discerning customers with higher than average disposable
incomes and to families who need to get their kids out of the car for a bit. Having
10 carloads at a time, each spending $45-$450 is better suited to the location
than having 50 cars each buying $10 worth of low margin sodas and chips.

In the conceptual layouts attached in Appendix A, the square footage dedicated 
to retail use is a combined 7,150 sf. Given that current zoning requires one 
parking space for every 200 square feet of retail floor space, the concept 
and configuration presented would require 36 parking spaces. With proper 
reconfiguration, the current parking lot could be reconfigured to accommodate 
at least 36 parking spaces, making it satisfactory for the Country Store concept 
as presented.

Traffic count represents vehicles exiting both Northbound and Southbound on I-95.

17 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 51



There are two keys to making this a success. The first is a quality experience and 
the second is marketing.

For a quality experience, the entire operation must be relaxing and inviting. 
The ambiance of the space must be rustic, yet clean; full, but not cluttered. The 
products must be well curated and each item must be of higher quality than 
can be found at a truck stop or travel station and there must be items that the 
customers can’t find at home, with enough variety of such items that the visitors
feel compelled to make the Stony Creek Country Store a regular stop. The staff
must be knowledgeable and welcoming. Bathrooms must work properly and be
clean and smell fresh.

As we noted, the Town is generally well maintained, with some private properties 
in disrepair. Continuing to focus on "street appeal" such as landscaping and 
eliminating blight will provide visitors a charming experience.

Farm Stand:
The Farmers’ Market has established itself as an appointment activity in many 
communities, although often in locations that are not easily available to a 
traveler and with limited operational hours. Using the above Vanderwende’s 
example as well as numerous smaller operations – branded and unnamed, alike 
– that dot Virginia’s older two- and four-lane highways, the Stony Creek Country 
Store can offer local, in-season produce from nearby farms, as well as more 
regional produce like apples from the Blue Ridge region.

While the fresh local produce of the farm stand should be a day-in, day-out 
staple offering of the Country Store, the plan as presented includes parking lot 
space for a weekend Farmers’ Market that will be a draw for locals as well as 
through travelers. The Farmers’ market also offers a chance to invite other local 
businesses to present their products and to have live music performed by local
musicians, much as the Floyd Country Store has presented on Friday Nights and
made Floyd, VA a destination.

https://www.floydcountrystore.com/

18 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 52



While focusing on local and regional items, especially those that 
do not have national distribution, it will also be helpful to have 
specialty products made on site. A smokehouse for Virginia 
Hams and other pork products such as bacon and sausages 
would be an attraction in itself, as Benton’s Country Hams in 
Tennessee (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UUE2v2lPQeQ)
(https://bentonscountryhams2.com) and Col. Newsom’s 
has done in Kentucky (https://www. youtube.com/
watch?v=hFcU3sjbCk8) (https:// www.newsomscountryham.
com/).

Both of these curing houses are nationally and internationally 
known and have regular visitors from out of state come to 
their locations to purchase their products, even though neither 
location has direct interstate exit access and bothare many miles 
from the nearest interstate and both are hours from major 
population centers.

19 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 53



The Marketplace in
Thee Draper Village

Thee Draper Village in Pulaski County, VA was 
begun as a small shop and café called the 
Draper Mercantile, located just under a mile 
from an exit off of I-81. By providing friendly 
and helpful service, seasonal produce, local 
and regionally created art and products, and 
high-quality food, the business attracted a loyal 
following of both regular through-travelers and 
local/regional customers.

Over the years, the offerings expanded to 
include outdoor activities, events, and
accommodations ranging from camping to yurts 
to cabins. Thee Draper Village has been an
economic driver for an extremely rural area and 
has highlighted the remote environment rather
than exploit it.
(https://www.draperisfordreamers.com/)

20 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 54



Other than a smoke house, opportunities could be a coffee roaster, a craft 
nanobrewery, a distillery, or a cheese maker. While local, premium Virginia 
Peanuts should definitely be sold on site, there are enough existing producers 
and packagers that selling their items should cover this niche – although “white 
label” branded peanuts from another producer could be an option, as would 
selling bags of fresh, hot peanuts and highlighting the multitude of products 
that can be made from peanuts, such as peanut "milk," soaps, and cosmetics. 
Similarly, even if the coffees aren’t roasted on-site, there could be an entire 
shelf unit of regionally roasted coffees from dozens of places like Demolition in 
Petersburg and Rostov’s or Black Hand in Richmond. If on-site brewing isn’t an 
option, a refrigerated display of 
regional craft beers can be available 
in singles, 4- & 6-packs, or even 
premixed cases and a growler filling 
station could be considered. A large 
selection of Virginia Wines should be 
welldisplayed with tasting sessions 
at key travel times.

Additionally, the following could 
be part of the operation, or could 
eventually locate nearby:

Value-added food products: 
Producing and packaging value-added food products using ingredients from 
local farms. This could include items like jams, jellies, sauces, pickles, dried 
herbs, or even baked goods, as well as the aforementioned peanut-based 
products. These products can attract customers looking for unique, locally 
made items.

21 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 55



Handcrafted soaps and candles: 
Utilizing natural ingredients from local farms, such as herbs, flowers, or beeswax, 
to create handcrafted soaps and candles. These products have a growing market, 
especially among consumers who prefer natural and sustainable options, and 
they make great gifts for friends and family upon returning from a vacation.

Artisanal crafts: 
Tap into local creativity and producers of artisanal crafts using materials found 
in the area’s farms and older homes. This could include items like handwoven 
baskets, pottery, woodworking, metalcrafts, or even handmade jewelry. These 
unique and locally-made products can attract customers looking for one-of-a-
kind items and these, too, are excellent gift ideas. The attached plans have a 
gallery in the old laundromat space that could combine local folk and fine art with 
pieces from some of VCU’s students, graduates and faculty.

As business increases, these artists and wood/metalcrafters could eventually set 
up shop in other vacant buildings in Stony Creek, with open workshops taking 
custom orders.

Homemade Ice Cream:
Homemade Ice Cream, made 
from regional dairy products 
(could be from Homestead 
Creamery in Bedford if a closer 
option can’t be sourced) can 
be an extremely attractive 
motivator for pulling off the 
interstate, especially if the car 
load has children on board. 
Approaching billboards could 
even offer a “free cone for kids 
under 12,” which makes passing 
up the opportunity almost 
unthinkable.

Vanderwende’s “Farm Fresh Ice Cream” 
(https://www.vanderwendefarmcreamery.
com/) started as a farm stand in Bridgeville, 
DE and was a regular stop for people 
returning to the Baltimore-Washington 
region on their way home from the Delaware 
beaches (Rehoboth, Dewey, and Bethany) 
for years. As time went by, they noticed a 
that families would stop and the kids needed 
something beyond a cantaloupe or some 
corn, so they introduced ice cream made 
from the cows on their farm. Not only does 
Vanderwende’s now have five ice cream 
locations, but it is a treasured family tradition 
for many visitors to the area to stop and get a 
cone to enjoy now and a box to take home.

22 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 56



Fresh Butcher:
One of the core grocery items that the Country Store can still offer; one that 
has no nearby competition and can carry a higher profit margin, is the butcher 
shop. While sourcing local chickens and heritage beef would be an exceptional 
marketing point, there are easily available options for purchasing premium 
meats through a distributor. People will travel for a good steak, and if the meat 
is good enough and is sold at “southern prices” – ie: less than in New York – it 
may be possible to earn repeat business from those who regularly travel back 
and forth between northern and southern destinations or those who are 
returning from vacation and know their refrigerator at home is empty after 10 
days in Charleston.

Stony Creek Country Store 
Merchandise:
No shot glasses here (unless a 
distillery is part of the operation), 
Stony Creek Country store 
merchandise should be simple 
and tasteful, complementing the 
other items in the store. Logo 
etched pint and wine glasses, logo 
embroidered hats and shirts, laser-
etched cutting boards, tea towels, 
and the like should give patrons an 
opportunity to show off their good 
taste and invite conversations with 
family and friends about “what is 
the Stony Creek Country Store and 
where is it?” 

Custom branded merchandise often has markups of 200% - 400%.

23 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 57



Using the South of the Border model, primary marketing will be on billboards, 
which, while expensive, provide immediate “top-of-mind” awareness to the exact 
customer the Country Store is looking to attract – through travelers on I-95. 

The billboards should be augmented with targeted advertising in the Richmond 
Petersburg area, local media, targeted social media, and targeted ad sense 
purchases for appropriate online searches. The starting budget for this is 
$125,000 annually.

Additionally, online sales can be an important part of the business plan and 
will need to include direct sales marketing through both email and direct snail 
mail. If a ham-curing or similar on-site production model is used (and it is highly 
recommended), then the Col. Newsom’s model of sending an annual direct mail 
order form in September/October for holiday ordering should be followed.

MARKETING

24 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 58



The biggest hindrance to the reuse of the former Jones & Company Grocery 
Store property at 12485 Main Street in the Town of Stony Creek is finding a new 
use that will attract through travelers on I-95 as well as attract local andregional 
customers by offering a product that has high margins and an experience that 
is not easily replicable. To meet this, we have designed the “Stony Creek Country 
Store.”

While it should be noted that there are no true, one-to-one comparable concepts 
in operation, Complete Community Economies, LLC investigated several similar 
operations and then accounted for the differences in operating model, location, 
size, and time in business. The general concept was vetted through several 
conversations with tourism and economic development professionals in the Mid-
Atlantic region. While individual preferences varied, the core of the proposed 
project met with resounding optimism and further research was done into 
prospective profit margins and lines of business, which were all used to create 
the following pro forma models.

For the following pro forma analysis, the assumptions are as follows, based on 
adjusted current market averages:
• ~$160/sf building rehab costs
• $300,000 in equipment costs
• $750,000 initial completed property value
• 4% - 6% annual increases in expenses
• 4% - 10% annual increases in revenues
• Most equipment acquired on a lease model of 2% per month
• Operating income estimates include product specific costs, such as labor and 

cost of goods and are broken out by months with all assumptions included in 
the spreadsheet (Appendix B).

• Other operating costs are shown on the 10-Year Pro Forma sheets (excerpted 
below and available in full in Appendix B)

• In all scenarios, “Year 1” refers to the first full operational year after start up 
activities are complete and business has begun stabilization. Therefore, a 
significant reserve of “start-up funding” - estimated to be between 4% and 8% 
of the rehab costs - is required in addition to the costs illustrated, although 
initial inventory is included in the pro formas.

FEASIBILITY

25 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 59



If the asking price for the building is paid with a 20% down payment, and all 
construction/rehab costs are made using traditional financing options, then the 
net cash equity requirements are approximately $605,000, leaving an annual 
debt service of ~$243,000.

FACILITY EXPENSES

Given the estimates for operating estimates, it is possible for the project to be 
profitable using traditional financing and a full upfit. However, due to high cash 
equity requirements and few existing incentives, the project is fairly high risk.

26 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 60



5-YEAR PRO FORMA

27 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 61



Below is the rehabilitation proforma using a $1 million Industrial Revitalization 
Fund (IRF) loan. At 2.5% the debt service is more manageable at ~$213,800 
annually. Also, the ability of the loan to be subordinated allows for a higher 
borrowing capacity, thus reducing cash equity into the project to approximately 
$405,000.

FACILITY EXPENSES WITH IRF

While the use of the IRF financing provides a modest increase in annual profits, 
as seen below, the reduction of needed cash equity by roughly 1/3 makes the 
project far more attractive from an investment standpoint and reduces the 
investors risk by a corresponding 1/3. 

28 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 62



5-YEAR PRO FORMA WITH IRF

29 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 63



Another option, which would further reduce the upfront risk and further 
reduce annual debt service, is to open in phases and begin operations with a 
lean model. This would also reduce income, but allow the operator to expand 
the business gradually and use operating income to offset some upfit and 
equipment costs. The chief risk to this model is not being able to offer the 
“wow” factor to first time visitors in their initial visits. This option also reduces 
the ability of the investor to fully leverage renovations and equipment costs. 
However, as the Draper Mercantile to Thee Draper Village example shows, this 
can be a successful way to open and expand this type of business.

LEAN FACILITY EXPENSES

The model below also includes using the IRF program to finance the bulk of the 
construction costs and shows a purchase price of $200,000, which is roughly 
the amount needed to make the current owner whole after paying off existing 
liens. Initial cash equity is reduced by $80,000 (~20%) and annual debt service is 
reduced by roughly $75,000 (~35%).

30 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 64



As mentioned, however, income would be expected to be reduced by 
approximately 30%, as there would be fewer lines of business operating, as well 
as fewer items available for purchase. Additionally, as shown in the spreadsheet 
below, Maintenance and Improvements would increase three-fold to $90,000 per 
year. These two issues would significantly reduce operating profits in the first 
few years, but possibly offer a more resilient business model in the long term. 
The lean model reduces both out of pocket initial risk and long-term ongoing 
operating costs as profit tick up significantly in Year 5.

While each of these models shows the opportunity for success and were all 
built based on rather conservative projections, no model can fully capture the 
full array of potential costs and risks, nor the varying tastes of the consumer. 
Therefore, an energetic and competent operator will be the primary driver of 
success.

31 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 65



RECOMMENDATIONS

The following are recommendations to help facilitate the transfer and 
rehabilitation of the former grocery property at 12485 Main Street in 
Stony Creek:

Work with the owner to assist with discharging the current liens. This 
may involve conversations with Virginia Department of Taxation and will 
likely involve an attorney.

Convene a group task meeting with representatives from the County, 
Town, VA Dept of Agriculture & Consumer Affairs, VA Dept of Housing 
and Community Development, Tobacco Commission, VA Tourism, USDA
Rural Development, State Delegate and Senator, Virginia Community
Capital (VCC) and VA Gateway Region to discuss the subject property, 
the Country Store concept, and support for the rehabilitation of the 
building and ongoing business operations.

Establish a Tourism Zone for not only this property, but much of the 
commercial Stony Creek area around the I-95/ Rte. 40 interchange. 
Use the Zone to establish appropriate local incentives to support the 
rehabilitation of this and other buildings within the Zone and their 
continued profitable operation.

Work with the County IDA to establish a Revolving Loan Fund, which 
will allow for Industrial Revitalization Funds to be granted to the locality 
to be loaned to the investor, and repaid to the Revolving Loan Fund for 
future economic development use. Alternatively, work with Waverly to 
contract use of their Revolving Loan Fund for the same purpose.

Stony Creek should join the VA Main Street program. This will unlock 
additional revitalization resources, including potential small grant funds 
for local projects. https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/vms

1

2

3

4

5

32 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 66



Make improvements to the Stony Creek playground and park, as well
as targeted select streetscape projects. While this playground and
park seem to be in good shape, parents with smaller children on long
car trips are often desperate for a safe and fun place for their children
to run around and expend some pent-up energy. Improving the park
could create one more reason for through travelers to stop in Stony
Creek and would complement the Country Store business. Stony
Creek/Sussex should investigate grant funds for park improvements.

Develop a dog park. Stony Creek seems to have plenty of available
and unused land near the subject property and the aforementioned
playground. While there is a small, astro-turfed "doggy rest area" at
the Davis Travel Plaza at Exit 33, by developing a true dog park with
room to run and marketing it appropriately, Stony Creek could entice
travelers with dogs to take a quick time out and stop in the Town.
While the visitors would likely spend enough to offset the costs of
maintaining the park, a small fee could be charged, if necessary,
although this may defeat the goal of the dog park project. Stony
Creek/Sussex should investigate grant funds for building a dog park.

Work with the Chamber of Commerce to build out a strong
entrepreneurial ecosystem within the County, especially around
agricultural value added and creative, small scale manufacturing such
as woodworking and metal crafting.

Consider acquiring the property and readying it for rehabilitation. This
approach has proven successful in turning blighted, vacant properties
into successful businesses that employ local residents and increase
tax receipts.

Work with Virginia Clean Cities to install Electric Vehicle Chargers in
the parking lot.

Conduct a campaign to recruit a highly-qualified operator
for the Country Store using this document and the previous
recommendations.

Apply for an Industrial Revitalization Fund grant.

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

33 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 67



APPENDIX A

ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN

AS-BUILT DRAWINGS

SITE DIAGRAM

34 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.

Recognition - Page 68



SUPERMARKET PLAN

LAUNDROMAT PLAN

35 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.

Recognition - Page 69



WEST

NORTH

EAST

SOUTH

STREETVIEW

AERIAL

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS EXTERIOR RENDERS

36 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.

Recognition - Page 70



A1044

A104

A104

A104

1

2

3

M
a
in

 S
t.

1279 SF

Estimated Total Area

9079 SF

Estimated Total Area

34 STANDARD PARKING SPACES +
2 ADA PARKING SPACES

PROPERTY LINE

14' - 2 1/4" . 26' - 4 3/4" . 7' - 3 3/4"

7
' -

 1
0
 3

/8
"

9
' -

 5
 5

/8
"

7
' -

 1
0
 1

/4
"

5
' -

 1
1
 1

/4
"

.
5
' -

 0
"

.
1
3
' -

 3
"

41' - 0 1/2"

LOCAL VENDOR SPACE

PATIO

CAFE AREA

DELI KITCHEN

FOOD SERVICE

PRODUCE & FEATURED ITEMS

DRY GOODS

COOLERS

OFFICE

W/C 
(ADA)

W/C W/C
UTILITY

CHECKOUT

STOCK 
ROOM

LOADING 
DOCK

CART 
CORRAL

W/C

UTILITY

PROPOSED DRAWINGS

FULL SITE DIAGRAM

37 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.

Recognition - Page 71



 1/16" = 1'-0"
2

NORTH

 1/16" = 1'-0"
1

WEST (FRONT)

 1/16" = 1'-0"
4

SOUTH

 1/16" = 1'-0"
3

EAST (REAR)

 1/16" = 1'-0"
2

NORTH

 1/16" = 1'-0"
1

WEST (FRONT)

 1/16" = 1'-0"
4

SOUTH

 1/16" = 1'-0"
3

EAST (REAR)

 1/16" = 1'-0"
2

NORTH

 1/16" = 1'-0"
1

WEST (FRONT)

 1/16" = 1'-0"
4

SOUTH

 1/16" = 1'-0"
3

EAST (REAR)

 1/16" = 1'-0"
2

NORTH

 1/16" = 1'-0"
1

WEST (FRONT)

 1/16" = 1'-0"
4

SOUTH

 1/16" = 1'-0"
3

EAST (REAR)

WEST NORTH

EAST SOUTH

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

WEST FACADE RENDER

38 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.

Recognition - Page 72



COUNTRY STORE PLAN

COUNTRY STORE INTERIOR FROM ENTRANCE

COUNTRY STORE INTERIOR

9079 SF
Estimated Total Area

OFFICE

WOMEN'S 
RESTROOM

CHECKOUT

CART 
CORRAL

MEN'S 
RESTROOM

UTILITY

39 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.

Recognition - Page 73



GALLERY SPACE PLAN

GALLERY INTERIOR RENDER

40 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.

Recognition - Page 74



GALLERY SPACE REFERENCE IMAGESCOUNTRY STORE REFERENCE IMAGES

41 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.

Recognition - Page 75



APPENDIX B

PRO FORMAS

FACILITY EXPENSES

42 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 76



FACILITY EXPENSES WITH IRF

43 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 77



LEAN FACILITY EXPENSES

44 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 78



OPERATING INCOME

45 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 79



10-YEAR PRO FORMA

46 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 80



10-YEAR PRO FORMA FULL IRF

47 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 81



10-YEAR PRO FORMA LEAN IRF

48 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 82



APPENDIX C

SURVEY

49 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.
Recognition - Page 83



50 Feasibility Study   |   12485 Main St.

Recognition - Page 84



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item: Recognitions #3.06 
 

Subject:  CARES Act Compliance Letter 
 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023 
 
============================================================================== 
 
Summary:   Sussex County’s Finance Department is pleased to announce that the Virginia 
Department of Accounts completed its Sub recipient Monitor Review (SMR) pursuant to the 
compliance monitoring and oversight requirements detailed in the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security Act (CARES Act) and Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for federal awards (Uniform Guidance) 2 CFR § 200.332, for recipients of 
Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) (ALN 21.019). Sussex County certified affirmatively that all 
requirements of the CARES Act funding distributed by DOA have been met and that all obligations 
and expenditures of the funds have been reported accurately.  
 
Recommendation:   N/A 
 
Attachment:   Letter from DOA  
   

============================================================================== 
 
ACTION:    
 
 

MOTION BY:    SECONDED BY:     

              
 
              
 
              
 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 
 
Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 
 
Futrell  ___ ___    Seward ___ ___ 
 
D. Jones ___ ___    Tyler  ___ ___ 
 
    White  ___ ___   
    (Tie Breaker) 

  

Recognition - Page 85



(804) 225-2109   FAX (804) 786-3356                                                TDD (804) 371-8588 

COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA 

SHARON H. LAWRENCE, CPA, CGMA Office of the Comptroller P. O. BOX 1971 
COMPTROLLER RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 23218-1971 

July 6, 2023 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Richard Douglas, County Administrator 
Sussex County 

FROM: Amanda R. Simpson, Director, Compliance Oversight and Federal Reporting 
Department of Accounts  

SUBJECT:    Subrecipient Monitoring Review Report 

The Department of Accounts (DOA) has performed a Subrecipient Monitoring Review (SMR) pursuant to the 
compliance monitoring and oversight requirements detailed in the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security 
Act (CARES Act) and Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for federal 
awards (Uniform Guidance) 2 CFR § 200.332, for recipients of Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) (ALN 21.019). 

Scope of Review 

In order to substantiate Sussex County’s compliance with the CARES Act requirements, the SMR process required 
certifications regarding the proper use of the CARES Act funds, return of any unused funds, maintenance of proper 
accounting records, and accurate reporting of expenditures to DOA of Coronavirus Relief Funds.  These certifications 
were produced using DOA’s Subrecipient Monitoring Secure Portal upon completion of a survey that was then signed 
electronically by the Authorized Representative (County Administrator) and a Fiscal Contact from Sussex County. 

Conclusion 

Sussex County certified affirmatively that all requirements of the CARES Act funding distributed by DOA have been 
met and that all obligations and expenditures of the funds have been reported accurately.  DOA has no further 
questions at this time. 

Closeout of the Subaward 

Because Sussex County has certified all CRF funds as fully compliant with the Commonwealth’s and U.S. 
Department of the Treasury’s requirements, the subawards (Transfers 1 and 2 of CRF Funds; and, if applicable, 
Municipal Utility Relief funds of the CARES Act) to Sussex County are considered fully expended; completely and 
accurately reported; and therefore, closed.  No further expenditures related to CRF will be considered.  However, if 
you become aware of anything that impacts your locality certification status, Sussex County must contact DOA and 
report the modification immediately. 

Recognition - Page 86



Richard Douglas, County Administrator 
July 6, 2023 
Page 2 

Summary and Remarks 

Thank you for your and your staff’s assistance through this Subrecipient Monitoring Review process.  If any 
questions arise regarding the above, please contact me. 

cc: Kelly Moore, Director of Finance, Sussex County 

Department of Accounts 
Sharon H. Lawrence, Acting Comptroller 
Linda Lee, Assistant Director, Compliance Oversight 
Marquinta Lee-Reynolds, Quality Assurance Analyst, Compliance Oversight 

Recognition - Page 87



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:   Recognition #3.07 

Subject:  APA Audit Compliance Letter for Sussex Constitutional Officers 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023   

============================================================================== 

Summary:   Administration receive notice that the Auditor of Public Accounts reviewed the 
Commonwealth collections and remittances of the Sussex’s Treasurer, Commissioner of the 
Revenue, and Sheriff of the locality indicated for the year ended June 30, 2023.   

Sussex County would like to recognize and announce the results of their found that the 
constitutional officers complied, in all material respects, to State laws, regulations and other 
procedures relating to the receipt, disbursement, and custody of State funds. 

Congratulations to Treasurer Deste Cox, Commissioner Ellen Boone and Sheriff Ernest Giles, Sr. 
for jobs well done! 

Recommendation:  N/A 

Attachment:  APA Letter, dated September 29, 2023 

============================================================================== 

ACTION:   N/A 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 

Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

S. White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)

Recognition - Page 88



Recognition - Page 89



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:   Recognition #3.08 

Subject:  Introduction of Sussex’s New Victim Witness Director  

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023   

============================================================================== 

Summary:  Commonwealth’s Attorney Vincent Robertson, Sr. will be present to introduce 
Sussex’s New Victim Witness Director, Ms. Yolanda Hines. 

Recommendation:  N/A 

Attachment:  None 

============================================================================== 

ACTION:   N/A 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 

Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

S. White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)

Recognition - Page 90



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:  Action Items #6.01 

Subject:    Pocahontas CDBG Project Update and Infrastructure Project Bid Award - $260,369. 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:   Planning Staff will provide a status update on the Pocahontas Neighborhood CDBG 
Project, i.e. housing rehabilitation, street light installation, drainage and hydrant improvements. 

Planning staff advertised an Invitation to Bid for drainage improvements to the main ditch and 
hydrant installation in the Pocahontas Neighborhood as part of the grant project.  One bid was 
received from Rickmond General Contracting, Inc. in the amount of $260,369.  The bid 
documents have been reviewed by the project engineer (CHA) and was found to be in order, with 
no math errors.  This work will be accomplished under Phase II of the grant upon authorization 
by DHCD. 

Recommendation:  Planning staff and CHA recommends award of the project bid to Rickmond 
General Contracting, Inc. in the amount of $260,369 contingent upon authorization of the 
Phase II funding by DHCD. 

Attachment:    CHA recommendation letter. 

============================================================================== 

ACTION:  That the Board approves the project bid to Rickmond General Contracting, Inc. in the 
amount of $260,369 contingent upon authorization of the Phase II funding by DHCD. 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)  

Action Items - Page 1



 

October 3, 2023 

Beverly Walkup 

Director of Planning 

Sussex County 

20135 Princeton Road 

Sussex, Virginia 23884 

Re:  Recommendation of Award for the Pocahontas Community Improvement Project 

Dear Ms. Walkup, 

On Tuesday, September 19, 2023, bids were received and opened for the above referenced project. The Work 

involves clearing and regrading an existing drainage channel from Higgins Street to King Street and installation of 

four fire hydrants in the Pocahontas Neighborhood. One bid was received for the work. A detailed bid tabulation is 

attached to this letter. Rickmond General Contracting, Inc. was the apparent low bidder.  The bid form appears to be 

in good order, with no math errors.   

Based upon our knowledge of the Bid and Rickmond General Contracting, Inc. credentials, CHA recommends award 

of the Pocahontas Community Improvement Project to Rickmond General Contracting, Inc. in the amount of 

$260,369.00. 

Should you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at 540-212-4368 or ssteele@chacompanies.com. 

Sincerely, 

Stephen Steele, PE 

Project Manager 

CHA Consulting, Inc. 

Action Items - Page 2

Steele, Stephen
Stamp



Action Items - Page 3



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item:   Action Items #6.02 

Subject:  Proposed 2024 Legislative Agenda 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:   The Board of Supervisors granted staff the authority to develop a Legislative Program 
for Sussex County. In furtherance of that matter, the attached legislative program has been 
prepared for the Board’s consideration. Similar to previous years, the County’s only priority item 
is to remove the Virginia Department of Corrections’ exemption from making PILOT payments to 
Sussex County for the Sussex I & II prisons. The 2024 Legislative Program of the Virginia 
Association of Counties (VACo) is unavailable at this time so it will not be included in Sussex 
County’s 2024 program. 

If adopted by the Board of Supervisors, staff would reach out to the County’s state legislative 
delegation to request that they introduce legislation and/or amendments to effect these 
changes.  

Recommendation:  Staff recommends the Board of Supervisors adopt the draft 2024 Legislative 
Program. 

Attachment: Draft 2024 Legislative Program 

============================================================================== 

ACTION:  That the Board adopts the draft 2024 Legislative Program. 

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)  

Action Items - Page 4



"Rooted in the past…Growing for the Future!" 

2024 Legislative Program 
October 2023 

Board of Supervisors 

Wayne O. Jones, Chair 
Susan B. Seward, Vice-Chair 
C. Eric Fly, Sr. 
Alfred G. Futrell 
Debbie P. Jones 
Rufus E. Tyler, Sr. 

County Administrator 

Richard Douglas 
Post Office Box 1397 

20135 Princeton Road 
Sussex, Virginia 23884 

Telephone: (434) 246-1000 
Facsimile: (434) 246-6013 

www.sussexcountyva.gov 

DRAFT

Action Items - Page 5

http://www.sussexcountyva.gov/


Sussex County 
2024 Legislative Program 

1 | P a g e

Budget Priority 
Remove Department of Corrections PILOT Payment Exemption 
Relevant Statute: Item 404 (G), Chapter 1, 2023 Acts of Assembly, Special Session I (attached) 
Background 
Section 58.1-3403 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, provides that “a service charge may be 
levied on real property owned by the Commonwealth if the value of all such property located within 
a county, city or town exceeds three percent of the value of all real property located within such 
county, city or town.” The service charge is generally referred to as payments in lieu of taxes 
(PILOTs). Generally, these payments are made to compensate localities for the cost of providing law 
enforcement, fire protection, emergency medical services (EMS), refuse collection/disposal, and 
public school education (when student/faculty housing is involved). 
Provisions in the State Budget have provided the Virginia Department of Corrections (DOC) with an 
exemption to this PILOT requirement since 2010. More specifically, the budget language states 
“Notwithstanding the provisions of § 58.1-3403, Code of Virginia, the Department of Corrections 
shall be exempt from the payment of service charges levied in lieu of taxes by any county, city, or 
town.” There are two such DOC facilities in Sussex County: Sussex I & II State Prisons. 
The exemption originated out of fiscal austerity measures taken by Governor Kaine’s administration 
to maintain a balanced state budget during the Great Recession. These measures were intended to 
be temporary; however, the language remains and has had significant negative effects on Sussex 
County’s fiscal health (ranked as the 5th most fiscally stressed county in Virginia) and operations.1 
Over $2.5 million in PILOT payments have been exempted since 2015, representing over $420,000 
annually on average and over 1.5% of the County’s average revenues. The two DOC facilities 
represent more than 11% of total county assessed real estate values – nearly four times the 
eligibility threshold established in § 58.1-3403. The County estimates it spends over $775,000 to 
provide EMS and Commonwealth’s attorney services to Sussex I and II (see attached estimates). In 
some alarming cases, the County’s EMS has been delayed and/or unable to delivery timely services 
to residents because they were occupied responding to incidents at Sussex I and II. 
A total of 20 budget amendment requests to eliminate this exemption have been requested since 
2011. Only one such request reported out of committee over the last 12 years despite previous 
budget amendment requests from patrons of both major political parties and representing a broad 
spectrum of Virginia geography (see attached budget amendment history sheet). 
Resolution of this matter would make a significant difference to the County and at least ten other 
rural localities (see attached list of facilities and 2010 PILOTs). While other localities are affected, 
Sussex County experiences the greatest fiscal impact with nearly 33% of the total DOC PILOT 
exemptions. 

1 Report on Comparative Revenue Capacity, Revenue Effort, And Fiscal Stress of Virginia’s Cities and Counties FY 2021. VA 
Commission on Local Government. July 2023. https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/clg/fiscal-
stress/fiscal-stress-2021.pdf  

DRAFT

Action Items - Page 6

https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/clg/fiscal-stress/fiscal-stress-2021.pdf
https://www.dhcd.virginia.gov/sites/default/files/Docx/clg/fiscal-stress/fiscal-stress-2021.pdf


Sussex County 
2024 Legislative Program 

2 | P a g e

Attachments 

DRAFT

Action Items - Page 7



2023 Special Session I
  Budget Bill - HB6001 (Chapter 1) 
Bill Order » Office of Public Safety and Homeland Security » Item 404

Department of Corrections

Authority: §§ 53.1-1 and 53.1-10, Code of Virginia. 

A.1. Any plan to modernize and integrate the automated systems of the Department of Corrections shall be based
on developing the integrated system in phases, or modules. Furthermore, any such integrated system shall be
designed to provide the department the data needed to evaluate its programs, including that data needed to
measure recidivism.

2. The appropriation in this Item includes $600,000 the first year and $600,000 the second year from the Contract
Prisoners Special Revenue Fund to defray a portion of the costs of maintaining and enhancing the offender
management system.

B. Included in this appropriation is $550,000 the first year and $550,000 the second year from nongeneral funds to
be used for installation and operating expenses of the telemedicine program operated by the Department of
Corrections. The source of the funds is revenue from inmate fees collected for medical services.

VIRGINIA STATE BUDGET

Item 404 First Year - FY2023 Second Year - FY2024

Administrative and Support Services (39900) $193,189,083 $192,727,270
$193,864,949

General Management and Direction (39901) $33,235,862 $32,977,922

Information Technology Services (39902) $80,215,543 $80,201,040

Accounting and Budgeting Services (39903) $6,327,168 $6,327,168

Architectural and Engineering Services (39904) $18,395,849 $17,973,910
$19,111,589

Jail Regulation, Inspections, and Investigations (39905) $971,215 $971,215

Human Resources Services (39914) $13,806,733 $14,039,302

Planning and Evaluation Services (39916) $1,917,612 $1,917,612

Procurement and Distribution Services (39918) $16,842,666 $16,842,666

Training Academy (39929) $11,144,616 $11,144,616

Offender Classification and Time Computation Services (39930) $10,331,819 $10,331,819

Fund Sources:

General $185,743,442 $185,281,629
$186,419,308

Special $7,290,106 $7,290,106

Dedicated Special Revenue $155,535 $155,535DRAFT

Action Items - Page 8

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/53.1-1/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/53.1-10/


C. Included in this appropriation is $1,100,000 the first year and $1,100,000 the second year from nongeneral funds
to be used by the Department of Corrections for the operations of its Corrections Construction Unit. The State
Comptroller shall continue the Corrections Construction Unit Special Operating Fund on the books of the
Commonwealth to reflect the activities of contracts between the Corrections Construction Unit and (i) institutions
within the Department of Corrections for work not related to a capital project and (ii) agencies without the
Department of Corrections for work performed for those agencies.

D. Notwithstanding the provisions of § 53.1-20 A. and B., Code of Virginia, the Director, Department of
Corrections, shall receive offenders into the state correctional system from local and regional jails at such time as
he determines that sufficient, secure and appropriate housing is available, placing a priority on receiving inmates
diagnosed and being treated for HIV, mental illnesses requiring medication, or Hepatitis C. The director shall
maximize, consistent with inmate and staff safety, the use of bed space in the state correctional system. The
director shall report monthly to the Secretary of Public Safety and Homeland Security and the Department of
Planning and Budget on the number of inmates housed in the state correctional system, the number of inmate beds
available, and the number of offenders housed in local and regional jails that meet the criteria set out in § 53.1-20
A. and B.

E. Notwithstanding any requirement to the contrary, any building, fixture, or structure to be placed, erected or
constructed on, or removed or demolished from the property of the Commonwealth of Virginia under the control of
the Department of Corrections shall not be subject to review and approval by the Art and Architectural Review
Board as contemplated by § 2.2-2402, Code of Virginia. However, if the Department of Corrections seeks to
construct a facility that is not a secure correctional facility or a structure located on the property of a secure
correctional facility, then the Department of Corrections shall submit that structure to the Art and Architectural
Review Board for review and approval by that board. Such other structures could include probation and parole
district offices or regional offices.

F. The Commonwealth of Virginia shall convey 45 acres (more or less) of property, being a portion of Culpeper
County Tax Map No. 75, parcel 32, lying in the Cedar Mountain Magisterial District of Culpeper County, Virginia, in
consideration of the County's construction of water capacity and service line(s) adequate to serve the needs of the
Department of Corrections' Coffeewood Facility and the Department of Juvenile Justice's Culpeper Juvenile
Correctional Facility (hereinafter "the facilities"). The cost of the water improvements necessary to serve the
facilities, including an eight-inch water service line, and including engineering and land/easement acquisition
costs, shall be paid by the Commonwealth, less and except (i) the value of the property for the jail conveyed by the
Commonwealth to the County ($150,382, based on valuation by the Culpeper County Assessor), and (ii) the cost of
increasing the size of the water service line from eight inches to twelve inches, in order to accommodate planned
county needs.

G. Notwithstanding the provisions of § 58.1-3403, Code of Virginia, the Department of Corrections shall be exempt
from the payment of service charges levied in lieu of taxes by any county, city, or town. 

H. The Department of Corrections shall serve as the Federal Bonding Coordinator and shall work with the Virginia
Community College System and its workforce development programs and services to provide fidelity bonds to
those offenders released from jails or state correctional centers who are required to provide fidelity bonds as a
condition of employment. The department is authorized to use funds from the Contract Prisoners Special Revenue
Fund to pay the costs of this activity.

I. In the event the Department of Corrections closes a correctional facility for which it has entered into an
agreement with any locality to pay a proportionate share of the debt service for the establishment of utilities to
serve the facility, the department shall continue to pay its agreed upon share of the debt service, subject to the
schedule previously agreed upon.

DRAFT

Action Items - Page 9

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/53.1-20/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/53.1-20/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/2.2-2402/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/58.1-3403/
dconmy
Highlight



J. Included in the appropriation for this Item is $1,000,000 the first year and $1,000,000 the second year from the
general fund for the costs of security technology and hardware for the inmate telephone system.

K. From the appropriation in this Item, $500,000 the first year and $500,000 the second year from the general fund
shall be used to present seminars on overcoming obstacles to re-entry and to promote family integration in the
correctional centers designated for intensive re-entry programs. The department shall submit a report by October
15 of each year to the Chairs of the House Appropriations and Senate Finance and Appropriations Committees, the
Secretary of Public Safety and Homeland Security, and the Department of Planning and Budget on the use of this
funding.

L. Included in the appropriation for this Item is $426,832 the first year and $426,832 the second year from the
general fund and four positions to assist the State Board of Local and Regional Jails in carrying out its duties under
the authority of § 53.1-69.1, Code of Virginia, to review deaths of inmates in local correctional facilities. One of the
positions provided is for an Executive Director. 

M.1. Consistent with the provisions of Chapter 198 of the 2017 Session of the General Assembly, the Director,
Department of Corrections, shall implement the recommendations relating to the Department of Corrections made
by the Department of Medical Assistance Services in its November 30, 2017 report on streamlining the Medicaid
application and enrollment process for incarcerated individuals.

2. For the purpose of implementing these recommendations, included in the appropriation for this item are
$37,400 the first year and $37,400 the second year from the general fund, and $112,200 the first year and $112,200
the second year from nongeneral funds and two positions.

N. By September 1 of each year, the Department of Corrections shall remit data to the Director of the Department
of Planning and Budget and the Chairs of the House Appropriations and Senate Finance and Appropriations
Committees regarding medical treatment provided to offenders at each facility. The data shall include, as a
proportion of average daily population at each facility, the levels of inmates who received care, including: the
specific proportions of inmates from each facility who were treated as inpatients, the specific proportion of
inmates from each facility who were treated as outpatients, data on prescription drug administration, and the
proportion of inmates from each facility who received other discrete services. When negotiating contracts with
healthcare vendors, the Department of Corrections shall include the reporting of data required under this
paragraph as a requirement within the contract.

O. The Department of Corrections is authorized to purchase from the Town of Craigsville approximately 122 acres,
more or less, located adjacent to the Augusta Correctional Center. In consideration for this acreage, the
Department will provide wastewater treatment services to the Town at no cost for a period adequate to equal the
value of the property conveyed. The value of the property shall be established by averaging the value of one
appraisal provided by the Department of Corrections and one by the Town of Craigsville.

P. The Commonwealth of Virginia shall convey 65 acres of property consisting of Clarke County Tax Map No. 27,
new parcel A, situated in the Greenway Magisterial District of Clarke County, Virginia, to the Virginia Port
Authority (VPA), on behalf of the Virginia Inland Port (VIP). The VPA, on behalf of the VIP, shall collaborate with
representatives of Clarke County to promote the use of the land for economic development purposes. The VIP shall
enter into a memorandum-of-understanding with Clarke County on the development and execution of mutually
advantageous economic development proposals.

Q.1. Included within the appropriation for this item is $7,281,666 the first year and $7,281,666 the second year
from the general fund and $1,000,000 the first year and $1,000,000 the second year from the Contract Prisoners
Special Revenue Fund for implementation of an electronic health records system in all facilities.

2. The Department of Corrections shall report on the total costs of implementing electronic health records at all of

DRAFT

Action Items - Page 10

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/53.1-69.1/


its facilities based on the selected vendor and the sufficiency of its on-going funding for full implementation at all
facilities. The report shall identify all funding currently budgeted for the project, the timeline for implementation,
and the inter-operability of the system with the information technology systems used by the Department and its
vendors. The Department shall utilize its nongeneral funds appropriated for this purpose prior to using the general
fund appropriation. The Department shall provide a report containing the aforementioned information to the
Chairs of the House Appropriations and Senate Finance and Appropriations Committees within 60 days of selecting
its vendor. 

R. 1. Included in the appropriation for this item is $7,909,652 in the first year and $8,125,783 in the second year
and 105 positions from the general fund for the Department to implement the earned-sentence-credit structure set
forth in House Bill 5148 and Senate Bill 5034 of the 2020 Special Session I.

2. Notwithstanding the provisions of § 53.1-202.3, Code of Virginia, a maximum of 4.5 sentence credits may be
earned for each 30 days served on a sentence that is concurrent with or consecutive to a sentence for a conviction
of an offense enumerated in subsection A of § 53.1-202.3, Code of Virginia.

S. Included in the appropriation for this Item is $500,000 the first year from the general fund for the estimated net
increase in the operating cost of adult correctional facilities resulting from the enactment of sentencing legislation
as listed below. This amount shall be paid into the Corrections Special Reserve Fund, established pursuant to § 30-
19.1:4, Code of Virginia.

1. House Bill 434 -- $50,000

2. House Bill 451 -- $50,000

3. House Bill 496 and Senate Bill 687 -- $50,000

4. House Bill 740 and Senate Bill 729 -- $50,000

5. House Bill 993 and Senate Bill 440 -- $50,000

6. House Bill 763 and Senate Bill 403 -- $50,000

7. House Bill 1332 and Senate Bill 700 -- $50,000

8. House Bill 1306 -- $50,000

9. Senate Bill 227 -- $50,000

10. Senate Bill 249 -- $50,000

T. Included in the appropriation for this Item is $1,137,679 the second year from the general fund for the estimated
net increase in the operating cost of adult correctional facilities resulting from the enactment of sentencing
legislation as listed below. This amount shall be paid into the Corrections Special Reserve Fund, established
pursuant to § 30-19.1:4, Code of Virginia. 

1. House Bill 1636 -- $50,000 

2. House Bill 1699 -- $50,000 

3. House Bill 1892 -- $50,000 

DRAFT

Action Items - Page 11

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/30-19.1:4/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/30-19.1:4/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/30-19.1:4/


4. House Bill 2398 -- $50,000 

5. House Bill 1931 and Senate Bill 973 -- $50,000 

6. House Bill 2166 and Senate Bill 896 -- $50,000 

7. House Bill 1897 and Senate Bill 1532 -- $50,000 

8. House Bill 1885 and Senate Bill 1396 -- $50,000 

9. House Bill 2024 and Senate Bill 1310 -- $50,000 

10. House Bill 1572 and Senate Bill 1291 -- $50,000 

11. House Bill 1478 and Senate Bill 1207 -- $437,679 

12. House Bill 1682 and Senate Bill 1188 -- $50,000 

13. House Bill 1673 and Senate Bill 1156 -- $50,000 

14. House Bill 2372 and Senate Bill 1135 -- $50,000 

15. House Bill 2132 and Senate Bill 1145 -- $50,000 

DRAFT

Action Items - Page 12



DRAFT

Action Items - Page 13



DRAFT

Action Items - Page 14



DRAFT

Action Items - Page 15



DRAFT

Action Items - Page 16



DRAFT

Action Items - Page 17



DRAFT

Action Items - Page 18



DRAFT

Action Items - Page 19



DRAFT

Action Items - Page 20



DRAFT

Action Items - Page 21



DRAFT

Action Items - Page 22



1

David Conmy

From: Richard Douglas
Sent: Wednesday, February 22, 2023 4:41 PM
To: Susan Seward
Cc: David Conmy; Reid Foster; Thomas Hicks
Subject: slightly revised figures to reflect $48 rate

Sussex County EMS response (Lifestar) for CY2022 (Eastern Sussex County/Waverly/Wakefield) 

Sussex 1 Prison= 30 incidents/responses in 2022 
Sussex 2 Prison= 63 incidents/responses in 2022 
TOTAL 2022 RESPONSES= 93 responses, plus approximately 20 mutual aid responses= 113 

 Total incidents/responses for 2022 for Eastern Sussex County/Waverly/Wakefield= 1750

 Response to Sussex 1 and 2 represents 6 percent of EMS response for 2022

 Minimum three hours per response to Sussex 1 and 2= 279 hours for 2022

 Based on $48/hr EMS contractual rate, 279 hours x hourly rate= $13,392, plus $450/day for one ambulance
($50,850 assuming one call/day)= $64,242

DRAFT

Action Items - Page 23



DOC PILOT Budget Amendment History

Session 
Year Name of Session Fiscal Years Category

Includes PILOT 
Exemption 
Language?

Budget Amendment 
Patron

Estimated Amount (if 
any) Notes Link

2009 2009 Session 2009 ‐ 2010 Final Budget N N/A N/A

‐ Item 4‐1.08

‐ Department of Corrections "Additional Budget Reductions of $1,500,000 for FY2010" https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2009/1/HB1600/Chapter/4/4‐1.08/

2010 2010 Session 2010 ‐ 2012

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 380 I https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2010/1/SB30/Introduced/1/380/

2010 2010 Session 2010 ‐ 2012 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 380 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2010/1/HB30/Chapter/1/380/

2011 2011 Session 2011 ‐ 2012

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 380 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2011/1/HB1500/Introduced/1/380/

2011 2011 Session 2011 ‐ 2012

Budget 

Amendment N/A Tyler, Co‐Patron Wright None provided

‐ Item 380 H

‐ Governor also supports amendment to delay PILOT exemption until July 1, 2011, because "The 

localities affected did not receive sufficient notice during the development of their FY2011 budgets in

the Spring of 2010 to plan for this loss of state payments...."

‐ Impact estimated to be $1,221,830 for FY2011

‐ Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2011/1/HB1500/Introduced/MR/380/13h/

2011 2011 Session 2011 ‐ 2012

Budget 

Amendment N/A Lucas

‐ $1,221,831 (FY2011)

‐ $1,221,831 (FY2012)

‐ Reported out of Senate Finance but only with funding for FY2012

‐ "H.  Included within this appropriation is $1,221,831 from the general fund the second year for the 

Department of Corrections to make payments in lieu of taxes to those localities to which payments 

were made in fiscal year 2010, pursuant to § 58.1‐3403, Code of Virginia." https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2011/1/SB800/Introduced/MR/380/1s/

2011 2011 Session 2011 ‐ 2012 Final Budget Y N/A N/A

Item 380 H

Clairifying language "Effective July 1, 2011" https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2011/1/HB1500/Chapter/1/380/

2012 2012 Session 2013 ‐ 2014

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 389 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2012/1/HB30/Introduced/1/389/

2012 2012 Session 2013 ‐ 2014

Budget 

Amendment N/A Tyler, Co‐Patron Morris

‐ $1,152,000 (FY2013)

‐ $1,152,000 (FY2014) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2012/1/HB30/Introduced/MR/389/1h/

2012 2012 Session 2013 ‐ 2014

Budget 

Amendment N/A Lucas

‐ $1,152,000 (FY2013)

‐ $1,152,000 (FY2014)

‐ Language specifies amounts for certain communities (Sussex County = "$415,000 each year")

‐ Reported out of Committee with an increase to $1,352,000 (Sussex County = $$415,000 each year") https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2012/1/SB30/Introduced/MR/389/1s/

2012 2012 Special Session I 2013 ‐ 2014 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 389 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2012/2/HB1301/Chapter/1/389/

2013 2013 Session 2013 ‐ 2014

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 389 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2013/1/HB1500/Introduced/1/389/

2013 2013 Session 2013 ‐ 2014

Budget 

Amendment N/A Tyler

‐ $815,000 (FY2013)

‐ $815,000 (FY2014)

‐ "R.  Out of the appropriations for this item, $815,000 the first year and $815,000 the second year 

from the general fund is included for the provision of payments in lieu of taxes for the counties of 

Brunswick, Greensville, Lunenburg, Southampton, and Sussex."

‐ Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2013/1/HB1500/Introduced/MR/389/2h/

2013 2013 Session 2013 ‐ 2014 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 389 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2013/1/HB1500/Chapter/1/389/

2014 2014 Session 2015 ‐ 2016

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 385 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2014/1/HB30/Introduced/1/385/

2014 2014 Session 2015 ‐ 2016

Budget 

Amendment N/A Tyler, Co‐Patron Morris

‐ $707,000 (FY0215)

‐ $707,000 (FY2016)

‐ "M.  Out of the appropriations for this item, $707,000 the first year and $707,000 the second year 

from the general fund is included for the provision of payments in lieu of taxes for the counties of 

Greensville, Lunenburg, Southampton, and Sussex." https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2014/1/HB30/Introduced/MR/385/8h/

2014 2014 Special Session I 2015 ‐ 2016

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 385 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2014/2/HB5002/Introduced/1/385/

2014 2014 Special Session I 2015 ‐ 2016 Substitute Y N/A N/A Item 385 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2014/2/HB5002/Substitute/1/385/

2014 2014 Special Session I 2015 ‐ 2016 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 385 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2014/2/HB5002/Chapter/1/385/

2014 2014 Special Session I 2015 ‐ 2016

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 385 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2014/2/HB5003/Introduced/1/385/

2014 2014 Special Session I 2015 ‐ 2016

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 385 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2014/2/HB5004/Introduced/1/385/

2014 2014 Special Session I 2015 ‐ 2016 Final Budget Y N/A N/A

‐ Item 385 H

‐ Amended and re‐enacted Acts of Assembly, Chapter 2, 2014 Special Session I https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/bill/2014/2/HB5010/Introduced/

2015 2015 Session 2015 ‐ 2016

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 385 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2015/1/HB1400/Introduced/1/385/

2015 2015 Session 2015 ‐ 2016 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 385 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2015/1/HB1400/Chapter/1/385/

2016 2016 Session 2017 ‐ 2018

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 394 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2016/1/HB30/Introduced/1/394/

2016 2016 Session 2017 ‐ 2018

Budget 

Amendment N/A Tyler, Co‐Patron Wright

‐ $1,119,000 (FY2017)

‐ $1,119,000 (FY2018) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2016/1/HB30/Introduced/MR/394/4h/

2016 2016 Session 2017 ‐ 2018

Budget 

Amendment N/A Kilgore

‐ $1,119,000 (FY2017)

‐ $1,119,000 (FY2018) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2016/1/HB30/Introduced/MR/394/5h/
DRAFT

Action Items - Page 24



DOC PILOT Budget Amendment History

Session 
Year Name of Session Fiscal Years Category

Includes PILOT 
Exemption 
Language?

Budget Amendment 
Patron

Estimated Amount (if 
any) Notes Link

2016 2016 Session 2017 ‐ 2018

Budget 

Amendment N/A Lucas

‐ $1,429,575 (FY2017)

‐ $1,429,575 (FY2018) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2016/1/SB30/Introduced/MR/394/3s/

2016 2016 Session 2017 ‐ 2018

Budget 

Amendment N/A Ruff

‐ $1,429,575 (FY2017)

‐ $1,429,575 (FY2018) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2016/1/SB30/Introduced/MR/394/4s/

2016 2016 Session 2017 ‐ 2018

Budget 

Amendment N/A Carrico

‐ $1,429,575 (FY2017)

‐ $1,429,575 (FY2018) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2016/1/SB30/Introduced/MR/394/6s/

2016 2016 Session 2017 ‐ 2018 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 394 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2016/1/HB30/Chapter/1/394/

2017 2017 Session 2017 ‐ 2018

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 394 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2017/1/HB1500/Introduced/1/394/

2017 2017 Session 2017 ‐ 2018

Budget 

Amendment N/A Ruff

‐ $0 (FY2017)

‐ $1,429,575 (FY2018) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2017/1/SB900/Introduced/MR/394/3s/

2017 2017 Session 2017 ‐ 2018

Budget 

Amendment N/A Ruff

‐ $0 (FY2017)

‐ $1,429,575 (FY2018) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2017/1/SB900/Introduced/MR/394/23s/

2017 2017 Session 2017 ‐ 2018 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 394 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2017/1/HB1500/Chapter/1/394/

2018 2018 Session 2019 ‐ 2020

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 391 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2018/1/HB30/Introduced/1/391/

2018 2018 Session 2019 ‐ 2020

Budget 

Amendment N/A Kilgore

‐ $1,430,964 (FY2019)

‐ $1,430,964 (FY2020) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2018/1/HB30/Introduced/MR/391/30h/

2018 2018 Session 2019 ‐ 2020

Budget 

Amendment N/A Lucas, Co‐Patron Peake

‐ $1,430,964 (FY2019)

‐ $1,430,964 (FY2020) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2018/1/SB30/Introduced/MR/391/13s/

2018 2018 Special Session I 2019 ‐ 2020

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 391 H https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2018/2/HB5002/Introduced/1/391/

2018 2018 Special Session I 2019 ‐ 2020 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 391 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2018/2/HB5002/Chapter/1/391/

2019 2019 Session 2019 ‐ 2020

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 391 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2019/1/HB1700/Introduced/1/391/

2019 2019 Session 2019 ‐ 2020

Budget 

Amendment N/A Peake

‐ $1,286,134 (FY2019)

‐ $1,286,134 (FY2020) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2019/1/SB1100/Introduced/MR/391/2s/

2019 2019 Session 2019 ‐ 2020 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 391 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2019/1/HB1700/Chapter/1/391/

2020 2020 Session 2021 ‐ 2022

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 402 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2020/1/HB30/Introduced/1/402/

2020 2020 Session 2021 ‐ 2022

Budget 

Amendment N/A Tyler

‐ $1,600,000 (FY2021)

‐ $1,600,000 (FY2022) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2020/1/HB30/Introduced/MR/402/6h/

2020 2020 Session 2021 ‐ 2022

Budget 

Amendment N/A Ruff

‐ $1,600,000 (FY2021)

‐ $1,600,000 (FY2022) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2020/1/SB30/Introduced/MR/402/26s/

2020 2020 Special Session I 2021 ‐ 2022

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 402 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2020/2/HB5005/Introduced/1/402/

2020 2020 Special Session I 2021 ‐ 2022 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 402 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2020/2/HB5005/Chapter/1/402/

2021 2021 Session 2021 ‐ 2022

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 402 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2021/1/HB1800/Introduced/1/402/

2021 2021 Special Session I 2021 ‐ 2022

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 402 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2021/2/HB1800/Introduced/1/402/

2021 2021 Special Session I 2021 ‐ 2022 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 402 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2021/2/HB1800/Chapter/1/402/

2022 2022 Session 2023 ‐ 2024

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 404 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2022/1/HB30/Introduced/1/404/

2022 2022 Session 2023 ‐ 2024

Budget 

Amendment N/A Wachsmann

‐ $1,400,000 (FY2023)

‐ $1,400,000 (FY2024) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2022/1/HB30/Introduced/MR/404/10h/

2022 2022 Special Session I 2023 ‐ 2024

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 404 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2022/2/HB30/Introduced/1/404/

2022 2022 Special Session I 2023 ‐ 2024 Final Budget Y N/A N/A Item 404 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2022/2/HB30/Chapter/1/404/

2023 2023 Session 2023 ‐ 2024

Introduced 

Budget Y N/A N/A Item 404 G https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/item/2023/1/HB1400/Introduced/1/404/

2023 2023 Session 2023 ‐ 2024

Budget 

Amendment N/A Wachsmann

‐ $0 (FY2023)

‐ $2,000,00 (FY2024) Failed to report out of Committee https://budget.lis.virginia.gov/amendment/2023/1/HB1400/Introduced/MR/404/1h/

DRAFT

Action Items - Page 25



Agency Name County Amount Comments
Brunswick Correctional Center N/A  $      84,089.92 Facility now Closed
Brunswick Work Center Brunswick  $      25,117.78 
Sussex I State Prison Sussex  $   233,979.72 
Sussex II State Prison Sussex  $   233,979.72 

Wallens Ridge State Prison N/A  $      55,000.00 
Payment to locality not PILT, but rather based on contractual 
agreement

Red Onion State Prison Wise  $   180,724.96 
Fluvanna Correctional Center for Women Fluvanna  $      34,115.48 
Buckingham Correctional Center Buckingham  $      36,938.07 
Deerfield Correctional Center Southampton  $      47,524.00 

Lawrenceville Correctional Center N/A  $   164,690.44 
Payment to locality not PILT, but rather based on contractual 
agreement

Wise Correctional Field Unit Wise  $        6,226.34 
Greensville Correctional Center Greensville  $   238,779.15 
Dillwyn Correctional Center Buckingham  $      14,364.70 
Haynesville Correctional Center Richmond County  $      31,669.00 
Lunenburg Correctional Center Lunenberg  $      42,375.74 

 $1,429,575.02 

Sussex 467,959.44$            

as percent of total 32.73%

as percent of total less closed facilities 41.57%

DRAFT

Action Items - Page 26



BOARD ACTION FORM 
Agenda Item:   Action Items #6.02 

Subject:  Route 602 Industrial Site Recertification 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:   The Virginia Economic Development Partnership (VEDP) requires updates to various 

environmental and due diligence reports for economic development sites every five years in 

order to retain their certification status with VEDP. This period of time is consistent with validity 

requirements by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and others. Expired reports can add substantial 

time to the development process and diminish the credibility of locations under consideration. 

VEDP’s records for the Route 602 Industrial Park indicate that the U.S. Army Corp Certified 

Wetland Study expiration date is 4/1/2024 and the Threatened & Endangered Species expiration 

date is 8/1/2013. An update of these reports is required for the site to maintain its certified 

status. Meanwhile, VEDP can offer provisional certification for sites if updates are forthcoming. 

In accordance with this requirement and the County’s term contract with Timmons Group, the 

attached $25,000 proposal was provided and will require a budget amendment. 

Recommendation:  Staff recommends that the Board adopt the proposed budget amendment. 

Attachments: (1) Email from VEDP Re: VBRSP Site Recertification, (2) Budget Amendment 

Resolution, and (3) Proposal for Updated Due Diligence Studies – Route 602 Industrial Park 

============================================================================= 

ACTION:  That the Board adopt the proposed budget amendment.  

MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________     

Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 

Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)  

Action Items - Page 27



1

David Conmy

From: Mende, Michelle <MMende@vedp.org>
Sent: Tuesday, August 8, 2023 10:59 AM
To: David Conmy
Subject: VBRSP Site Recertification

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Due By: Tuesday, August 15, 2023 9:00 AM
Flag Status: Flagged

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organiza on. Do not follow guidance, click links, or open a achments unless you 
know the content is safe. 

As you are aware, several of the environmental reports that are conducted as part of the site due diligence have 

expira on dates and require updates to remain valid and in compliance. As the environmental rules and regula ons 

become more complex, maintaining a detailed inventory of these reports’ availability and expira on date is vital. An 

expired report, such as a wetlands delinea on, can add substan al  me to the development process and diminish the 

credibility of the loca on under considera on.  

To enhance the effec veness of our site development efforts, VEDP is implemen ng a recer fica on program for all Tier 

4 and Tier 5 proper es. All sites with a minimum Tier level of 4 will require recer fica on every five years. The 

VirginiaScan database is designed to track each site's characteriza on date and the availability and expira on date of 

site due diligence reports.   

Current regula ons require streams and wetlands delinea ons to be updated and submi ed to the U.S. Army Corp every 

five years to remain valid. To maintain a site’s cer fied status, the U.S. Army Corps Cer fied Wetland Study must be 

current and on file at VEDP. A desktop review of the Threatened & Endangered Species Database is also required to 

verify that there are no changes to species statuses that could poten ally impact the site.   

If the Wetland Study and/or Threatened & Endangered Species expires or becomes outdated, the site Tier level will 

drop, and the site will no longer be listed as a cer fied site on VEDP’s website. The expira on of these reports will 

require an updated characteriza on report to address these and any other items for the site. 

Our records for Route 602 Industrial Park indicate that the U.S. Army Corp Cer fied Wetland Study expira on date is 

4/1/2024 and the Threatened & Endangered Species expira on date is 8/1/2013. For the site to maintain its cer fied 

status, an update of these reports is required. 

If the reports have been updated, please send copies of the updated reports. If the reports are in process or are in the 

process of being approved for upda ng by the locality, please let us know. A response indica ng the status of the 

reports is required by August 31, 2023, for the site to maintain its cer fied  er level. If the reports are in process or are 

in the process of being approved, the site will maintain a provisional cer fica on for three months. An extension of the 

provisional cer fica on may be granted if the reports are in process. 

Please feel free to reach out to Abigail Pa erson at 804‐545‐5774 or John Lo us at 804‐545‐5786 if you have any 

ques ons. 

Michelle Mende 
Sites and Buildings Specialist, Real Estate Solutions 
Virginia Economic Development Partnership 

Action Items - Page 28



2

804.545.5785 
vedp.org 

Action Items - Page 29



RESOLUTION #23-83 

FY24 BUDGET AMENDMENT 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Sussex County Board of Supervisors that the following budget 

amendment for the Administration/Economic Development department be and hereby is made 

for the period of July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024.  This resolution will appropriate reserve 

funds to Timmons Group for Route 602 Industrial Site Recertification. 

FUND # 100 

GENERAL FUND 

REVENUE 

Fund 135 Local Reserves $25,000 

Total Revenues $25,000 

EXPENDITURE 

Fund 100 Administration $25,000 

Total Expenditures  $25,000 

Adopted this 19th day of October, 2023. 

________________________________ 

Wayne O. Jones, Chairman 

Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

ATTEST: 

__________________________ 

Shilton R. Butts, Clerk 

Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

Action Items - Page 30



Copyright © 2023 Timmons Group – This proposal shall be considered Confidential & Proprietary until such time as a 

contract has been executed with the Client. 

Page 1 

September 14, 2023 

Mr. J. David Conmy 

Deputy County Administrator & Economic Development Director 

Sussex County 

20135 Princeton Road 

P.O. Box 1397 

Sussex, Virginia 23884 

Re: Proposal for Updated Due Diligence Studies – Route 602 Industrial Park 

Sussex County, Virginia 

Dear Mr. Conmy: 

In accordance with your request, we are pleased to submit the following proposal for your consideration: 

Project Background and Understanding 

Sussex County has previously completed all necessary due diligence and planning efforts to classify the Route 

602 Industrial Site as a Tier 4 site according to Virginia Business Ready Sites Program (VBRSP) standards.  

Recently, Virginia Economic Development Partnership (VEDP) notified Sussex County that a few of the due 

diligence studies were out of date or were going to be in the near future.  This proposal outlines the scope of 

services necessary to update those studies and keep the site’s Tier 4 designation. 

Scope of Services 

1. Wetland Delineation

Timmons Group will conduct a site visit to review and refresh the previous wetland delineated linework

confirmed in 2019 and update where necessary based on the 2023 Waters of the U.S. ruling. An updated

wetland delineation of the subject property will be performed in accordance with the 1987 U.S. Army Corps

of Engineers (COE) Wetland Delineation Manual and appropriate Regional Supplement.  The flagged

wetland limits will be GPS located for mapping purposes where necessary (Note that this GPS location is

for confirmation and planning purposes and is not a substitute for traditional field survey and that in the

event wetlands and streams may be impacted by the project the limits should be located by traditional

survey means).  A preliminary wetland delineation map showing the approximate size, shape and location

of wetlands and or waters of the U.S. present on the subject property will then be prepared.

2. Wetland Confirmation

Timmons Group will facilitate the confirmation of wetland locations through wetland flagging and request

to extend the 2019 Preliminary Jurisdictional Determination (PJD) for an additional 5 years with the

submittal of a PJD package to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (COE). This package will consist of a

narrative, wetland delineation map and updated wetland delineation field data sheets. Timmons Group will

conduct a site visit with the COE to review the site conditions, flagged wetland limits and confirm findings.

A Preliminary Jurisdictional Determination (PJD) letter for the wetland delineation will be obtained from

the COE.

Action Items - Page 31



Rt 602 Industrial Park – Updated Due Diligence Studies Proposal 
September 2023 

Copyright © 2023 Timmons Group – This proposal shall be considered Confidential & Proprietary until such time as a 

contract has been executed with the Client. 

Page 2 

3. Phase I Environmental Site Assessment

Timmons Group will complete a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) in full compliance with the

scope and limitations of ASTM Standard E 1527-21 (Environmental Site Assessments: Phase I

Environmental Site Assessment Process) of the Route 602 Industrial Park site which totals approximately

148 acres located on Cabin Point Road (Route 602) in Sussex County, Virginia.

In accordance with ASTM standards as prescribed by the United States Environmental Protection Agency

All Appropriate Inquiry process, reasonably available environmental regulatory database listings and

historical information will be accessed and reviewed prior to evaluating the presence and/or locations of

recognized environmental conditions (RECs) as defined by ASTM standards. Utilized historic resource

data will include, but not be limited to, aerial photographs, city directories, topographic maps, and fire

insurance maps. Any identified RECs and/or areas of potential environmental concern will be a focal point

of site inspection.

Records on file with the state and local officials, as available, will be reviewed to identify active and/or

historic facilities that may represent a REC or an area of potential environmental concern. Any risk(s)

associated with these facilities will be assessed, as able.

Timmons Group will complete a site inspection of the interior and exterior of the on-site structures, as

necessary, which will also include a visual reconnaissance of the immediately adjoining properties. RECs

and/or areas of potential environmental concern will be documented photographically.

Per ASTM standards, an environmental liens search must be completed.  An environmental lien is a charge,

security, or encumbrance on title to a property to secure the payment of a cost, damage, debt obligation, or

duty arising out of response actions, cleanup, or other remediation of hazardous substances or petroleum

products. Timmons Group requests the client provide any knowledge of environmental liens or a copy of

the property deed/title commitments.  Additionally, Timmons Group will complete a search through

resource review.

In order to qualify for one of the Landowner Liability Protections (LLPs) offered by the Comprehensive

Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA), the “User” or party for whom the

Phase I ESA is prepared must complete the ASTM Standard E 1527 User Questionnaire provided by

Timmons Group.  Failure to provide this information could result in a determination that “all appropriate

inquiry” is not complete and forfeiture of CERCLA protection. In addition to the User, interviews will be

conducted with the present owner and one (1) or more state and/or local agency officials (as applicable and

accessible) with the objective to obtain information identifying RECs.

Upon completion of the site reconnaissance, file reviews, and interviews, a report on the findings of the

Phase I ESA will be prepared in accordance with ASTM Standard E 1527-21. Included within the Phase I

ESA report will be recommendations for additional investigations as warranted. Per ASTM standards, the

Phase I ESA will be valid for 180 days or 6 months.

The performance of this Phase I ESA specifically excludes any subsurface investigations, radon

investigations, chain-of-title reports/investigations, cultural resource investigations, or any sample

collection and analysis (including asbestos-containing materials).

Action Items - Page 32



Rt 602 Industrial Park – Updated Due Diligence Studies Proposal 
September 2023 

Copyright © 2023 Timmons Group – This proposal shall be considered Confidential & Proprietary until such time as a 

contract has been executed with the Client. 

Page 3 

4. Cultural Resources Review

Timmons Group will complete a desktop review of the Department of Historic Resources - Virginia

Cultural Resource Information System to identify and evaluate the location and nature of archeological and

architectural resources both on-site and within a one-quarter (0.25) mile radius beyond the perimeter of the

proposed area of disturbance. The evaluation will additionally consider the listing status of identified

resources on the National Register of Historic Places and/or the Virginia Landmarks Register. At the

conclusion of the review, a memorandum will be prepared summarizing the results.

5. Threatened & Endangered Species Review

A database search will be completed to determine the likely occurrence of populations of federal and state

protected threatened and/or engendered species within the project area.  Database reviews will include the

Virginia Department of Wildlife Resources (VDWR) online Virginia Fish and Wildlife Information

Services (VAFWIS) database, the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) online Information,

Planning and Conservation (IPaC) database and the Center for Conservation Biology’s Eagle Nest Mapper

(CCB) tool. In addition, Timmons Group will coordinate with the Department of Conservation and

Recreation’s Division of Natural Heritage (DCR) for a review of its Biotics Data System for occurrences

of state protected plant and insect species within and in the vicinity of the project area.

Timmons Group will incorporate database search results into a memorandum which will summarize the

potential protected flora and fauna that may occur within the project area. Recommendations for avoidance,

additional coordination and/or additional studies related to potential protected species will be included in

the memorandum report.

6. Project Management

Project management of all services being provided to assure the efficient delivery and accuracy of the

project and active communication amongst the Timmons Group team, County personnel, and key

stakeholders. Project management responsibilities include the following:

• Providing project updates (internally and externally) and reporting to project personnel

• Managing and supervising Timmons Group teams while working in the County

• Enforcing quality control and quality assurance practices throughout the project

Locality Responsibilities 

1. Provide and/or help coordinate access to the property

2. Provide any additional information as necessary in a timely manner for Timmons Group to complete the

study within the appropriate time frame

Project Schedule 

We are prepared to begin work immediately upon notice to proceed and will complete the above referenced work 

within approximately 5 – 6 months from notice to proceed.   Please note that the Wetland Confirmation is dependent 

upon regulatory agency review timelines.   

Action Items - Page 33



Rt 602 Industrial Park – Updated Due Diligence Studies Proposal 
September 2023 

Copyright © 2023 Timmons Group – This proposal shall be considered Confidential & Proprietary until such time as a 

contract has been executed with the Client. 

Page 4 

Proposed Fee Schedule: 

Timmons Group will perform this work under a lump-sum fixed-fee arrangement as noted below. 

1. Wetland Delineation $    9,000 

2. Wetland Confirmation $    4,000 

3. Phase I Environmental Site Assessment $    5,000 

4. Cultural Resources Review $    1,500 

5. Threatened & Endangered Species Review $    2,500 

6. Project Management $    3,000 

Total $  25,000 

Thanks again for the opportunity to submit this proposal for your consideration.  Should you have any questions 

or need any additional information, please don’t hesitate to contact me at your earliest convenience. 

Sincerely, 

Joseph C. Hines, PE, MBA Garland “Mac” McKenzie, PE 

Principal in Charge Senior Project Manager  

Attachment:  Exhibit A – Standard Terms and Conditions 

Accepted by:  Sussex County, VA 

Signature Date 

Printed Name Title 

Action Items - Page 34



Rt 602 Industrial Park – Updated Due Diligence Studies Proposal 
September 2023 

Copyright © 2023 Timmons Group – This proposal shall be considered Confidential & Proprietary until such time as a 

contract has been executed with the Client. 

Page 5 

EXHIBIT A - STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES: The Scope of Services performed under this Agreement shall be as described
above in the Letter of Agreement from TIMMONS GROUP to which these Terms and Conditions are
attached.  Separate Change Orders signed by authorized representatives of TIMMONS GROUP and the
Client may, from time to time, describe additional or different services to be performed under this
Agreement, such Change Orders are incorporated by reference herein.  These Terms and Conditions shall
apply to the Change Orders except to the extent expressly modified by such Change Order.  TIMMONS
GROUP services with regard to the specific properties covered by this Agreement and subsequent Change
Orders, if any, shall hereinafter be referred to as the “Project” or “Projects.”

2. DEFINED TERMS:  Capitalized terms used in this Exhibit A but not defined shall share the meanings
ascribed in the Letter of Agreement.

3. STANDARD OF CARE: In providing services under this Agreement, TIMMONS GROUP will endeavor to
perform in a manner consistent with the degree of skill and care ordinarily exercised by members of the
same profession currently practicing under similar circumstances.  It is not the intention of TIMMONS
GROUP to provide or offer to provide services inconsistent with or contrary to such practices, nor to make
any warranty or guaranty, expressed or implied, nor to have any agreement or contract for services subject
to provisions of any section of any Uniform Commercial Code.  Moreover, it is not the intention of TIMMONS
GROUP to accept any terms and conditions offered by the Client in its purchase order, requisition, or notice
of authorization to proceed except as set forth herein or as expressly accepted in writing.  Written
acknowledgement or receipt of the actual performance of services subsequent to receipt of any such
purchase order, requisition or notice of authorization to proceed is specifically deemed not to constitute
acceptance of any terms or conditions contrary to those set forth herein.

4. CODE COMPLIANCE: TIMMONS GROUP shall exercise usual and customary professional care in its
efforts to comply with all applicable codes, laws, regulations and the policies of regulatory agencies in effect
as of the date of the Agreement.  Design changes made necessary by newly enacted codes, laws,
regulations and the policies of regulatory agencies after the date of this Agreement shall be treated as an
additional service subject to an executed Change Order and TIMMONS GROUP shall be entitled to
appropriate additional compensation.  The Client understands that different officials charged with the
enforcement of such codes, laws, regulations and policies of regulatory agencies may have different or
inconsistent interpretations of the requirements of such codes, laws, regulations and policies of regulatory
agencies, and that TIMMONS GROUP shall not be liable for any damages arising from conflicting
interpretations by different officials.  In the event of a conflict between the codes, laws, regulations or
policies of regulatory agencies which apply to the Project, TIMMONS GROUP shall notify the Client of the
nature and impact of such conflict, and the Client agrees to cooperate and work with TIMMONS GROUP
in an effort to resolve the conflict.

5. ELECTRONIC FILES: Because of the possibility that information and data delivered in an electric file format
may be altered, whether inadvertently or otherwise, TIMMONS GROUP reserves the right to retain the
original tapes, disks and other forms of electronic data, and to remove from copies provided to the Client
all identification reflecting the involvement of TIMMONS GROUP in their preparation.  TIMMONS GROUP
also reserves the right to retain hard copy originals of all Project documentation which is delivered to the
Client in electronic file format, which originals shall govern in the event of any inconsistency between the
two.  It is also understood that the automated conversion of information and data from the system and
format used by TIMMONS GROUP to an alternate system or format may not be able to be accomplished
without the introduction of inaccuracies, errors and anomalies.  In the event any Project documentation
provided to the Client in electronic file format is so converted by the Client, or someone acting on the Client’s
behalf, Client agrees to assume all risks associated therewith and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to
hold TIMMONS GROUP harmless and indemnify it from and against any claims, liabilities, damages, losses
and costs, including but not limited to attorney’s fees, arising therefrom or in connection therewith.

Action Items - Page 35



Rt 602 Industrial Park – Updated Due Diligence Studies Proposal 
September 2023 

Copyright © 2023 Timmons Group – This proposal shall be considered Confidential & Proprietary until such time as a 

contract has been executed with the Client. 

Page 6 

6. GOVERNING LAW: This Agreement shall be governed according to the laws of the Commonwealth of
Virginia.

7. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS: This Agreement shall not create any rights or benefits to parties other than the
Client and TIMMONS GROUP.

8. ASSIGNMENT:  This Agreement may not be assigned without the prior written consent of the Client and
TIMMONS GROUP, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld.

9. PROJECT SITE SAFETY: TIMMONS GROUP’s Project site responsibilities are limited solely to the
activities of TIMMONS GROUP and TIMMONS GROUP’s employees on the Project site.  These
responsibilities shall not be inferred by any party to mean that TIMMONS GROUP has responsibility for
Project site safety.  The Client and TIMMONS GROUP agree that Project site safety is the sole and
exclusive responsibility of the Project’s owners or contractor(s).  The parties likewise agree that the Project
contractor(s) is solely responsible for Project means, methods, techniques, sequences of operation and
procedures, and that TIMMONS GROUP shall have no obligations relating to these contractor(s) duties.

10. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: To the fullest extent permitted by law, except as expressly stated in this
Agreement, Timmons Group makes no representations or warranties, express or implied.  Notwithstanding
any other provision of this Agreement, the maximum liability, in the aggregate, to the Client and anyone
claiming by or through the Client, of TIMMONS GROUP and its officers, directors, shareholders, partners,
employees, agents and subconsultants, and any of them, for any and all claims, losses, or damages,
including attorney’s fees, in any way related to or arising from the Project or this Agreement, shall not
exceed the total compensation received over the past six calendar months by TIMMONS GROUP under
this Agreement, or $50,000, whichever is greater.

11. INDEMNIFICATION:  TIMMONS GROUP agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and
hold harmless the Client, its officers, directors and employees, against all damages, liabilities or costs,
including reasonable attorney’s fees and defense costs, to the extent caused solely and directly by the
negligent performance of professional services by TIMMONS GROUP or its agents under this Agreement.
The Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold harmless TIMMONS
GROUP, its officers, directors, employees and agents, against all damages, costs and liabilities, including
reasonable attorney’s fees, caused solely by the Client’s negligent acts in connection with the Project or
that of its Contractor(s), subcontractors or consultants or anyone for whom the Client is legally liable.
Neither TIMMONS GROUP nor the Client shall be obligated to indemnify the other party in any manner
whatsoever for the other party’s own negligence.

Action Items - Page 36



BOARD ACTION FORM 

Agenda Item: Action Items #6.04 

Subject:  Accounts Payable Clerk Appropriation 

Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023 

============================================================================== 

Summary:   Sussex County has a current vacant position of an Accounts Payable Clerk in the Finance 
sub-department of Administration.  This position was previously held for multiple years by the same 
employee.  Due to the 2005 classification plan labeling this position as entry-level, funding has been 
maintained under an entry-level pay grade.  Over the years, this position has matured from entry-
level to experience/professional.  With the current employment market and especially 
competitiveness of the surrounding localities, Sussex will have to increase its pay grade for this 
position in order to retain a qualified/committed employee.  Therefore, staff is recommending an 
appropriation up to $28,000 for salary and benefits (range: $39,500 - $64,000) to secure an Accounts 
Payable Clerk.   

Recommendation:   Staff is recommending an appropriation up to $28,000 to secure an Accounts 
Payable Clerk. 

Attachment:   Position Ad 

============================================================================== 

ACTION:   That the Board appropriates up to $28,000 to secure an Accounts Payable Clerk. 

MOTION BY: SECONDED BY: 

Member Aye Nay Member Aye Nay 

Fly ___ ___ W. Jones ___ ___ 

Futrell ___ ___ Seward ___ ___ 

D. Jones ___ ___ Tyler ___ ___ 

White  ___ ___  
(Tie Breaker) 

Action Items - Page 37



RESOLUTION #23-84 

FY24 BUDGET AMENDMENT 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Sussex County Board of Supervisors that the following budget 

amendment for the Administration department be and hereby is made for the period of July 1, 2023 

through June 30, 2024.  This resolution will appropriate reserve funds to Administration to retain 

an Accounts Payable Clerk. 

FUND # 100 

GENERAL FUND 

REVENUE 

Fund 135 Local Reserves $28,000 

Total Revenues $28,000 

EXPENDITURE 

Fund 100 Administration $28,000 

Total Expenditures  $28,000 

Adopted this 19th day of October, 2023. 

_______________________________ 

Wayne O. Jones, Chairman 

Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 

Shilton R. Butts, Clerk 

Sussex County Board of Supervisors 

Action Items - Page 38



County of Sussex 
Position Announcement 

Accounts Payable Clerk 

The County of Sussex is accepting applications for the position of Accounts Payable Clerk. Duties 
include, but are not limited to the following: Receive, process, and verify invoices and purchase 
orders; Reconcile general ledger accounts; Reconcile credit account statements; Prepare and 
maintain Excel spreadsheets and financial reports; Process and record payments to suppliers and 
vendors; Resolve billing discrepancies; Process accounts payable checks and ACH’s to include 
final corrections and adjustments; Post correcting journal entries in General Ledger; Process Juror 
payments; Process Employee Travel Reimbursements; Maintain Vendor Files & W-9 Schedule; 
Compile Monthly Expenditure Reports for the Board meeting; Prepare and distribute monthly 
expenditure reports to departments; Prepare annual tax reporting forms e.g. 1099’s; Research and 
verify financial data; Draft correspondence/reports when needed; Performs clerical and office 
assistant duties as required by supervisor.   

Requirements:   General knowledge of finance with experience in accounting and/or bookkeeping; 
considerable experience with Microsoft Office products, especially Excel and AS400 accounting 
software; general knowledge of standard office procedures, practices and equipment; High School 
graduate with a minimum of three years or more experience in finance and experience in local 
government finance preferred. Salary range: $39,500-$58,400 DOE/DOQ. 

Submit Confidential VA State Applications Form (DHRM10-012), cover letter, and resume to: 
Kelly W. Moore, Director of Finance at Post Office Box 1397, 20135 Princeton Road, Sussex, 
Virginia 23884 or e-mail kmoore@sussexcountyva.gov. Call (434)-246-1006 or email 
kmoore@sussexcountyva.gov to request that the application be emailed to you.  Position is open 
until filled.  If mailing or hand delivering documents, please mark the sealed envelope 
“CONFIDENTIAL”. 

Action Items - Page 39

mailto:kmoore@sussexcountyva.gov
mailto:kmoore@sussexcountyva.gov


BOARD ACTION FORM 
  
Agenda Item: Unfinished Business Item #8.01 
 
Subject:  Codification Update 
 
Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023 
 

============================================================================== 
 

Summary:  County Attorney Danielle Powell will provide a brief update on the codification 
process for county ordinances.  Civic Plus (formerly Municode) recently completed the process, 
and staff is requesting that a public hearing be scheduled and adoption be considered for the 
November board meeting. 
 
Recommendation: None  
 
Attachment:  None 
 
============================================================================= 
 
ACTION:      
 
MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________     
 

             

             

             

             

              

 
Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 
 
Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___  
 
Futrell  ___ ___    Seward ___ ___ 
 
D. Jones ___ ___    Tyler  ___ ___ 

 
White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)     



BOARD ACTION FORM 
 
Agenda Item:   New Business #9.01 
 
Subject: Finance Committee Recommendations – 10/18/23 Meeting with Rescue Squads 
 
Board Meeting Date:  October 19 2023 
 
============================================================================== 
 
Summary:  A Special Meeting will be held Wednesday, October 18, 2023 at 7 p.m.   
 
Finance Committee Recommendations will be provided at the Thursday, October 19, 2023 
regular Board meeting based on the results of the Special Meeting. 
 
Recommendation:  None 
 
Attachments: None 
 
============================================================================== 
 
ACTION:  TBD 
 
MOTION BY:   ___________ SECONDED BY:  ____________     
 
Member Aye Nay    Member Aye Nay 
 
Fly  ___ ___    W. Jones ___ ___  
 
Futrell  ___ ___    Seward ___ ___ 
  
D. Jones ___ ___    Tyler  ___ ___ 
 

White  ___ ___ 
(Tie Breaker)     


	#1 10 19 2023 BOS Agenda
	#2 Minutes
	#2.01-1 9 21 23  Regular BOS meeting minutes 2
	#2.01-2 9 21 2023 Finance Committee Meeting

	#2.02 Warrants  Vouchers
	#2.03-#2.05 Consent Agenda
	#2.03 Treasurer's Report
	#2.04-1 BD Cover
	#2.04-2 September 2023 Report
	#2.04-3  September 2023
	#2.04-4 SD Cover
	#2.04-5 Sheriff's Office Monthyl Report_September2023
	#2.05-1 VW Grant BAF
	#2.05-2 VICTIM WITNESS GRANT PROGRAM (002)

	#3 Recognition
	#3.01-1 Ruralband
	#3.02-1 Fire & EMS
	#3.02-2 FINAL Sussex County Fire and EMS Report 2023 (002)
	#3.03-1 VDOT
	#3.04-1 Regional EPA
	#3.05-1 Stony Creek Grocery Store
	#3.05-2 Stony Creek Grocery Feasibility Final without ESA
	#3.06-1 CARES Certification
	#3.06-2 L183 - Sussex County-Compliance Review
	MEMORANDUM
	Scope of Review
	Conclusion
	Closeout of the Subaward
	Summary and Remarks

	#3.07-1 apa audit
	#3.07-2 APA
	#3.08-1 New VW Director

	#6 Action Items
	#6.01-1 Rickmond Engineering Bid Award for the Pocahontas Comunity Improvement Grant (003)
	#6.01-2 CHA Letter
	#6.02-1 MtgActionForm - Action Item - Prop 2024 Legis Request
	#6.02-2 Draft Legislative Program - Sussex County - 2024 VA General Assembly
	Budget Language.pdf
	2023 Special Session I
	Budget Bill - HB6001 (Chapter 1)
	Bill Order » Office of Public Safety and Homeland Security » Item 404
	Department of Corrections



	#6.03-1 Budget Amend Route 602 Indust Site Recertification
	#6.03-2 Email - VEDP - VBRSP Site Recertification
	#6.03-3 Timmons-Route 602 Appropriation
	#6.03-4 Rt 602 - Due Diligence Update Proposal SEPT2023
	#6.04-1 AP Clerk Board Action Form
	#6.04-2 Accounts Payable Clerk Appropriation
	#6.04-3 Position Announcement 092223

	#8 Codification Update
	#9.01 FC Recommendations



